
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Resources Department 
Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 

 
 

AGENDA FOR THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Members of the Housing Scrutiny Committee are summoned to Committee Room 4, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD on 20 June 2017 at 7.30 pm. 
 
 
Yinka Owa   
Director of Law and Governance   
 
 

Enquiries to : Jonathan Moore 

Tel : 020 7527 3308 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 12 June 2017 

 
 
Membership  Substitute Members 
 
Councillor Michael O'Sullivan (Chair) 
Councillor Marian Spall (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Alex Diner 
Councillor Gary Doolan 
Councillor Aysegul Erdogan 
Councillor Troy Gallagher 
Councillor Osh Gantly 
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche  MBE 
 
Observer: 
Rose Marie McDonald (PFI Managed Tenants) 
 

Councillor Satnam Gill OBE 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Jenny Kay 
Councillor Una O'Halloran 
Councillor Olly Parker 
Councillor Angela Picknell 
Councillor Dave Poyser 
Councillor Nurullah Turan 
 

 
Quorum: is 4 Councillors 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 

 

A.  
 

Formal Matters 
 

Page 

1.  Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2.  Declaration of Substitute Members 
 

 

3.  Declarations of Interests 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the 

existence and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes 
apparent; 

 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is 
already in the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   

In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in the 
discussion and vote on the item. 
 

*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 

(b) Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 
expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; including 
from a trade union. 

(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) and 
the council. 

(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 

(e)  Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or 
longer. 

(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in 
which you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 

 (g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 
of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
 

 

4.  Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 

1 - 6 

5.  Chair's Report 
 

 

6.  Order of Business 
 

 

7.  Public Questions 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 

B.  
 

Items for Decision/Discussion 
 

Page 

1.  Membership, Terms of Reference and Dates of Meetings 
 

7 - 10 

2.  RSL Scrutiny 
 
(a housing association has been invited to present to the Committee;  
their attendance will be confirmed in advance of the meeting) 
 

 

3.  Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q4 2016/17) 
 

11 - 16 

4.  Housing Services for Vulnerable People: Final Report 
 

17 - 48 

5.  Scrutiny Topics and Work Programme 2017/18 
 

49 - 50 

C.  
 

Urgent non-exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any non- exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgent by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

D.  
 

Exclusion of press and public 
 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the agenda, 
any of them are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information within the terms of the Access to Information Procedure Rules in the 
Constitution and, if so, whether to exclude the press and public during 
discussion thereof. 
 

 

E.  
 

Confidential/exempt items 
 

 

F.  
 

Urgent exempt items (if any) 
 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently by 
reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be agreed by the 
Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

 

 
 

The next meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee will be on 17 July 2017



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
 

Housing Scrutiny Committee -  28 March 2017 
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Housing Scrutiny Committee held at Committee Room 4, Town Hall, 
Upper Street, N1 2UD on  28 March 2017 at 7.30 pm. 

 
 

Present: Councillors: 
 
 
Observer: 
 
Also present:  

O'Sullivan (Chair), Spall (Vice-Chair), Erdogan, Gantly, 
and O'Halloran.  
 
Rose-Marie McDonald 
 
Councillor Diarmaid Ward 

 
 

Councillor Michael O'Sullivan in the Chair 
 

 

255 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A1) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Gary Doolan, Mouna Hamitouche, 
and Angela Picknell.  
 
 

256 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (Item A2) 
 
None. 
 
 

257 DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS (Item A3) 
 
The Chair declared a personal interest in Item B4 as he lived in a property managed by a 
tenant co-operative.  
 
 

258 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A4) 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 2 February 2017 be confirmed as a 
correct record and the Chair be authorised to sign them.  
 
 

259 CHAIR'S REPORT (Item A5) 
 
The Chair reported that committee members and officers had met with representatives of 
the Housing Disability Panel to discuss the draft recommendations of the review of Housing 
Services for Vulnerable People. It was noted that changes had been made to the draft 
recommendations as a result.  
 
The Chair advised that the Committee’s recent visit to the Reception Centre at Hornsey 
Road had been illuminating and thanked the centre staff for facilitating the visit.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  28 March 2017 
 

2 
 

The Chair noted that Jim Rooke had passed away. Jim had served as a co-opted member 
and observer on the Committee since 2014 and was previously appointed to the Housing 
Executive. Jim was an active member of the community who had campaigned on tenant 
issues for a number of years. The Committee observed a minute’s silence.  
 
 

260 ORDER OF BUSINESS (Item A6) 
 
No changes were proposed to the order of business.  
 
 

261 PUBLIC QUESTIONS (Item A7) 
 
The Chair outlined the procedure for public questions and the filming of meetings.  
 
 

262 SERVICE REVIEW GROUP: MANAGEMENT OF EXTERNAL COMMUNAL AREAS (Item 
B1) 
 
The report was presented by Anne Cannon, a resident and member of the Service Review 
Group.  
 
The following main points were noted in the discussion:  
 

 The Service Review Group had evaluated how external areas were managed, and in 
particular considered how Housing Services dealt with dog fouling, bulk refuse 
collection, and general cleanliness.  

 The Committee noted and considered the recommendations of the Service Review 
Group. The Service Review Group had also identified areas of good practice. 

 The Service Review Group had visited the St Luke’s Estate and had met with a 
caretaker; it was observed that the caretaker had a good relationship with residents 
and that communication with the Area Housing Office was good. A member of the 
Committee advised that this was not consistent with the experiences of some local 
residents and commented that the estate had not had a permanent caretaker for the 
past two years. It was advised that this would be reported back to the Service 
Review Group.  

 The Committee acknowledged that dog fouling was a particular issue for visually 
impaired people and wheelchair users. A member of the Committee highlighted the 
Service Review Group’s recommendation to consider painting dog excrement in 
bright colours and suggested that this would have an additional cost which may be 
better spent on cleansing and enforcement.   

 The Committee suggested that further work was needed to raise awareness that 
dog excrement could be placed in all public bins. It was suggested that providing 
free bags may also help to reduce incidents of dog fouling.  

 It was suggested that increased enforcement through the issuing of fixed penalty 
notices may help to reduce dog fouling. However, it was advised that these were not 
able to be issued on private land or land owned by housing associations.  

 The Committee considered recent incidents on fly tipping and queried if further 
liaison with the Police and inspection of CCTV footage would lead to the 
identification of offenders.  

 A member of the public queried if further partnership work between boroughs could 
increase intelligence on those who repeatedly fly-tip waste. 

 

Page 2



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  28 March 2017 
 

3 
 

The Committee thanked Anne Cannon and members of the Service Review Group for their 
contribution.  
  
RESOLVED: 
 
That the recommendations of the Service Review Group be received.  
 
 

263 HOUSING SERVICES FOR VULNERABLE PEOPLE: NOTES OF SCRUTINY VISIT & 
DRAFT RECOMMENDATIONS (Item B2) 
 
a) Notes of Scrutiny Visit  
 
Noted. 
 
 
b) Draft Recommendations 
 
It was advised that members of the Housing Disability Panel had been consulted on the 
draft recommendations.   
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the recommendations be agreed.   
 
 

264 HOUSING PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 3 2016/17 & ANNUAL EXECUTIVE MEMBER 
PRESENTATION (Item B3) 
 
Councillor Diarmaid Ward, Executive Member for Housing and Development, made a 
presentation to the Committee on the performance of Housing Services; and introduced the 
performance report for Quarter 3 2016/17.  
 
The following main points were noted in the discussion:  
 

 Repairs satisfaction was 89%, which was considered good. It was also noted that 
the First Time Fix rate was 85%. It was thought that further improvements in 
performance would result from the introduction of the new repairs ICT system.  

 It was commented that the council’s joinery workshop had a particular specialism in 
sash windows. The Executive Member hoped that in future the council would be 
able to trade its repairs services commercially to generate income.  

 It was reported that many operatives were enthusiastic about multiskilling as they 
considered that this would be beneficial to their careers. 

 Communications around damp and mould had been reviewed and were now written 
in a more helpful tone.   

 The Committee discussed the online repairs reporting system. It was acknowledged 
that some residents did not have ICT skills and it was suggested that these people 
could be assisted by providing training to resident associations and community 
groups on how to report repairs online. It was also suggested that awareness of the 
system could be raised through digital notice boards.  

 It was suggested that allowing residents to pick an appointment time and date would 
be a positive further development to the online repairs reporting system.  

Page 3



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  28 March 2017 
 

4 
 

 It was explained that online repairs reporting was only applicable to directly 
managed properties, however it was hoped that Partners and other housing 
providers would introduce similar reporting mechanisms.  

 The Committee commented on the need to rigorously scrutinise Partners’ 
performance.  

 Whilst the reduction in the use of temporary accommodation was welcomed, it was 
noted that the Homelessness Reduction Bill would likely increase the duties of local 
authorities without providing adequate additional resources.  

 The Executive Member set out the factors which were taken into account when 
determining a homeless application. It was noted that domestic violence was a 
factor in around a third of homelessness cases. The most prevalent cause of 
homelessness was the end of a tenancy.  

 There were 20,000 applications on the housing register and the number of severely 
overcrowded households had increased by 100 over the past year. Concern was 
expressed that the sale of higher value council housing to be implemented through 
the Housing and Planning Act would further reduce the council’s ability to house 
vulnerable people.  

 In response to a question, it was confirmed that the council provided advice to 
housing applicants who were unlikely to be accepted for council housing. It was also 
noted that the housing register was regularly reviewed to remove applicants who 
were no longer actively seeking council accommodation in the borough.  

 The average points needed to successfully bid for a studio flat had slightly 
decreased over the past year. This was because there was less demand for studio 
flats in comparison to one-bedroom properties, and most applicants qualified for a 
one-bedroom property. 

 The Committee expressed concern at housing associations selling their properties in 
the borough and queried if the council challenged housing associations on the 
resulting loss of nomination rights. In response, it was advised that there was no 
legal requirement for housing associations to inform the council when their 
properties were sold however officers were considering how the supply of housing 
association properties in the borough could be monitored closer. 

 The Islington Lettings scheme was being reviewed. It was commented that the 
scheme faced significant competition from local lettings agents.   

 The Committee raised concerns about housing fraud and in particular council 
properties being advertised for sub-let through online services such as Airbnb. The 
Executive Member had engaged in discussions with Airbnb about this.  

 The Committee discussed how the implementation of universal credit would affect 
the housing service. It was advised that the council could apply to receive payments 
for rent directly from tenants’ benefits if they were in a high level of arrears. It was 
suggested that the council should seek direct debit payments from tenants on 
universal credit to reduce the likelihood of them entering arrears.  

 In response to a question, it was advised that around 1,000 households were paying 
the Bedroom Tax. Some of these households were claiming Discretionary Housing 
Payments.  

 The Committee noted the council’s new build developments and queried if shared 
ownership was an effective use of subsidy, given that many shared ownership 
properties in the borough were only affordable to higher income households. In 
response the Executive Member acknowledged that shared ownership was 
increasingly unaffordable, particularly in the south of the borough, however 
commented that there was a need for intermediate housing options.  

 It was suggested that the council’s quarterly housing performance should be 
benchmarked against larger housing associations for comparative purposes.  

 

Page 4



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  28 March 2017 
 

5 
 

The Committee thanked Councillor Ward for his attendance.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That progress against key performance indicators in Quarter 3 2016/17 be noted.  

      
 
 

265 UPDATE ON TENANT LED ORGANISATIONS (Item B4) 
 
The report was presented by Joanne Walters, Tenant Management Team Leader.  
 
The following main points were noted in the discussion:  
 

 Islington had 23 tenant led organisations which managed around 3,100 council 
owned properties.  

 It was highlighted that many of the tenant led organisations had substantial 
surpluses. Whilst it was acknowledged that some tenant led organisations had 
invested in local amenities through play equipment and outdoor gyms, it was noted 
that this was not feasible for all organisations.  

 The council had a role in overseeing the work of tenant led organisations. It was 
noted that legislative requirements, particularly in relation to health and safety, data 
protection and safeguarding, had changed significantly since some of the 
organisations were established in the 1970s and 80s and there were therefore risks 
which needed to be addressed. The Committee commented on the importance of 
auditing tenant led organisations for compliance with legislation.  

 The sale of higher value council housing through the Housing and Planning Act 
presented a risk to the sustainability of tenant led organisations and local 
communities.  

 The Committee noted the amount of officer time in supporting tenant led 
organisations and queried if the council could sell services to these organisations in 
the same way in which schools procure training from the council. In response, it was 
commented that this could be explored, however the council had an interest in 
ensuring that tenant led organisations were well run and received comprehensive 
training on matters such as safeguarding. For this reason providing services at no 
cost to the organisations was beneficial.  

 It was queried if tenant led organisations could be encouraged to invest their 
surpluses in the council’s new build programme.  

 A member commented that tenant led organisations were often very efficient and 
provided good quality services to residents.  

 It was advised that the allowances received by tenant led organisations were 
calculated in relation to the council’s own budgets and generally these organisations 
had not experienced budget reductions.  

 Following a question, it was advised that tenants wishing to make a complaint about 
a tenant led organisation should complain to the organisation in the first instance. 
Any unresolved complaints could be followed up by the council if required.  

 
The Committee thanked Joanne Walters for her attendance.  
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 

Page 5



Housing Scrutiny Committee -  28 March 2017 
 

6 
 

266 HOUSING AND PLANNING ACT UPDATE (PRESENTATION) (Item B5) 
 
Maxine Holdsworth, Service Director for Housing Needs and Strategy, made a presentation 
to the Committee on the implications of the Housing and Planning Act.  
 
The following main points were noted in the discussion:  
 

 The Committee welcomed that the government’s proposed ‘tenant tax’ had been 
dropped. This would instead be implemented by housing providers on a 
discretionary basis. Islington Council had confirmed that it would not be 
implementing the policy. The council had written to all housing associations 
operating in the borough and all had responded to confirm that they would not be 
implementing the policy, with the exception of Hyde Housing Association.  

 The Committee expressed concern at the sale of higher value empty properties, 
noting that the council may be forced to sell a third of its empty properties each year, 
providing all receipts to the treasury to fund Right to Buy discounts. It was thought 
that the sale of Islington’s properties could generate up to £200m a year for the 
treasury whilst worsening the already severe housing crisis in the borough. It was 
commented that a decrease in the council’s housing supply would significantly 
impact the council’s ability to meet the housing needs of residents, including 
vulnerable people.     

 The council would be unable to continue to offer lifetime tenancies, however further 
detail was awaited on the full implications of this.  

 The Committee welcomed the proposed Greater London Authority Affordable 
Housing and Viability Supplementary Planning Guidance, which was intended to 
increase the supply of genuinely affordable housing in London.   

 It was thought that the benefits cap would have a significant effect on some housing 
association and private sector tenants. It was expected that homelessness would 
increase as a result. Members requested a breakdown by ward of the number of 
families expected to be affected by the benefit cap, and suggested that members 
could receive training on homelessness issues. 

 The Committee considered that the recently published Housing White Paper lacked 
meaningful content to respond to.  

 A member advised of the ‘Alternative Housing Awards’ facilitated by the Unite Union 
Housing Workers Branch, which recognised housing associations for poor 
performance.    

 
The Committee thanked Maxine Holdsworth for her attendance.  
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 9.35 pm 
 
 
 
CHAIR 
 

Page 6



Resources Department 
                               Town Hall, Upper Street  

                                                                                                                                London N1 2UD 
 

 
Report of: Director of Law and Governance  

 

Meeting of  
 

Date Ward(s) 

Housing Scrutiny Committee 
 

20 June 2017  All 

 

Delete as appropriate  Non-exempt 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject:  MEMBERSHIP, TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DATES OF    
MEETINGS OF THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
1. Synopsis 
 

To inform members of the terms of reference of the Housing Scrutiny Committee. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 To note the membership appointed by Annual Council on 11 May 2017, terms of reference and 

dates of meetings of the Housing Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2017/18, as set out 
at Appendix A. 

 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The terms of reference of the Housing Scrutiny Committee (as contained in Part 5 of the 

Council’s Constitution) are set out at Appendix A. 
 
3.2 The membership and dates of meetings are also set out at Appendix A for information. 
 
4. Implications 
 
4.1 Financial Implications 
 
 None. 
 
4.2 Legal Implications 
 
 None. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 1



 
4.3 Resident Impact Assessment 
  

The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity, and foster 
good relations, between those who share a relevant protected characteristic and those who do 
not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the 
need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life. The 
council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding. A 
resident impact assessment is not relevant in this instance. 

 
4.4 Environmental Implications 
 
 The environmental impacts have been considered and it was identified that the proposals in this 

report would have no adverse impacts on the following: 
 

 Energy use and carbon emissions 

 Use of natural resources 

 Travel and transportation 

 Waste and recycling 

 Climate change adaptation 

 Biodiversity 

 Pollution 
 
 Papers are circulated electronically where possible and consideration is given to how many 

copies of the agenda might be required on a meeting by meeting basis with a view to minimising 
numbers.  Any papers not used at the meeting are recycled. 

 
5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 
 
5.1 The report is submitted to ensure members are fully informed of the remit of the Committee. 

 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices: Appendix A – Committee Membership, Future Meeting Dates, and Terms of Reference.  
 
Final Report Clearance 

 
 
Signed by  

 
  

 Director of Law and Governance  Date 
 
 
Report author  Jonathan Moore, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Tel   020 7527 3308 
E-mail   jonathan.moore@islington.gov.uk 

Page 8



APPENDIX A 

 
HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 2017/18 

 
 

1. COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP  
 

Councillors 

 

Substitute Members 

Councillor Mick O’Sullivan (Chair)  
 

Councillor Satnam Gill 

Councillor Marian Spall (Vice Chair) 
 

Councillor Gary Heather 

Councillor Alex Diner 
 

Councillor Jenny Kay  

Councillor Gary Doolan 
 

Councillor Una O’Halloran 

Councillor Aysegul Erdogan 
 

Councillor Olly Parker 

Councillor Mouna Hamitouche  
 

Councillor Angela Picknell 

Councillor Troy Gallagher   Councillor David Poyser 

Councillor Osh Gantly  
  

Councillor Nurullah Turan 

 
Observer:  
 

Rose-Marie McDonald – PFI Managed Tenants 
 

 
 

2. MEETING DATES 
 

    

 20 June 2017  

 17 July 2017  

 4 September 2017 

 3 October 2017 

 16 November 2017  

 11 December 2017  

 30 January 2018 

 8 March 2018 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 

1. To carry out the functions of an overview and scrutiny committee in respect of 
matters relating to Housing Services. 

 
2. To consider and make recommendations to the Executive, the Executive member for 

Housing and to Corporate Directors or other council officers with relevant delegated 
authority in relation to any aspect of the council’s housing landlord functions and 
services. 

 
3. To consider and make recommendations to the Executive, the Executive member for 

Housing and to Corporate Directors or other council officers with relevant delegated 
authority in relation to other functions and services directly affecting any aspect of the 
council’s housing landlord functions and services. 

 
4. To review the operation and effectiveness of the council’s resident engagement 

arrangements from time to time. 
 

5. To consider matters relating to the performance of the Council‘s partners, including 
RSLs, in respect of housing and housing related matters as appropriate. 

 
6. To consider residents’ experience of the borough’s privately rented housing.  

 
7. To seek and receive the views of residents concerning housing matters through the 

council’s resident engagement arrangements. 
 

8. To undertake a scrutiny review of its own choosing and any further reviews as 
directed by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Committee and, consulting all 
relevant sections of the community, to make recommendations to the Executive 
thereon. 

 
9. To carry out any review referred to it by the Policy and Performance Scrutiny 

Committee following consideration of a Councillor Call for Action referral.  
 

Page 10



 

1 
 

  

 
Housing and Adult Social Services 

7 Newington Barrow Way, London N7 7EP 

 

Report of: Executive Member for Housing and Development 

Meeting of  Date Ward(s) 

Housing Scrutiny Committee  20 June 2017 All 

 

Delete as appropriate Exempt Non-exempt 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Subject:  QUARTERLY REVIEW OF HOUSING PERFORMANCE   
          (Q4 2016/17)  

 

1. Synopsis 

1.1. Each year the council agrees a set of performance indicators and targets which, collectively, 

help us to monitor progress in delivering corporate priorities and working towards our goal of 

making Islington a fairer place to live and work.  

1.2. Progress is reported on a quarterly basis through the council’s scrutiny function to challenge 

performance where necessary and to ensure accountability to residents.  

1.3. This report sets out a progress update for those indicators related to Housing up to the end 

of Quarter 4 2016/17. 

2. Recommendations  

2.1. To note progress to the end of Quarter 4 against key performance indicators falling within the 

remit of the Housing Scrutiny Committee. 

3. Background 

3.1. The council routinely monitors a wide range of performance measures to ensure that the 

services it delivers are effective, respond to the needs of residents and offer good quality and 

value for money.  

3.2. In 2016/17, rather than Policy & Performance Scrutiny Committee (PPS) scrutinising all 

quarterly performance reporting, a new approach was agreed whereby each of the four 

theme based scrutiny committees – Children’s Services, Health and Care, Environment & 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



 

2 
 

Regeneration, and Housing – would be responsible for monitoring performance in their own 

areas. 

4. Quarter 4 update on Housing performance 

4.1. This report contains an update on Housing indicators for Quarter 4.  

Objective Indicator 

F
r
e
q
u
e
n
c
y 

Q4  
Actual 
Apr-

March 

Q4  
Target 
Apr-

March 

Target 
2016-17 

On/Off 
target 

Same 
period 

last year 

Better 
than last 

year? 

Increase 
supply of 
and access 
to suitable 
affordable 
homes 

Number of affordable 
new council and housing 
association homes built 

Q 152 N/A 460 N/A 113 Yes 

Number of severely 
overcrowded households 
that have been assisted 
to relieve their 
overcrowding 

Q 131 78 78 On 78 N/A 

Number of under-
occupied households that 
have downsized 

Q 170 200 200 Off 179 No 

Ensure 
effective 
managemen
t of council 
housing 
stock 

Percentage of LBI 
repairs fixed first time 

M 85% 85.0% 85.0% On 84.5% Yes 

Major works open over 
three months as a 
percentage of Partners’ 
total completed major 
works repairs 

M  7% 1.0% 1.0% Off 1.6% No 

a) Rent arrears as a 
proportion of the rent roll - 
LBI 

M 1.8% 2.0% 2.0% On 1.7% No 

b) Rent arrears as a 
proportion of the rent roll 
- Partners 

M 2.1% 2.0% 2.0% Off 2.2% Yes 

Reduce 
homeless-
ness 

Number of households 
accepted as homeless 

M 396 400 400 On 375 No 

Number of households in 
nightly-booked temporary 
accommodation 

M 374 400 400 On 514 Yes 

NB: Frequency (of data reporting): M = monthly; Q = quarterly 

Increase supply of / access to affordable housing 

4.2. As reported in previous performance reports, it was clear the target of 460 affordable 

homes was not going to be met in 2016/17. Prior to completing a cross referencing exercise 

Page 12



 

3 
 

with Planning, affordable completions are likely to be 156 new homes made up of 16 from 

the council’s new build programme and 140 from housing associations. 

4.3. The schemes at Ivy Hall, Blenheim Court and Bramber House were forecast to complete in 

2016/17 but have slipped to the following year. Ivy was primarily delayed due to delay from 

the electrical supplier in connecting the supply and the sub-contractor for the Mechanical 

and Engineering work going into administration. Blenheim also had issues with service 

connection as well as changes with the contractor’s site staff. The scaffolding sub-

contractor at Bramber House went into administration while connection to services, 

specifically Thames Water, was delayed due to supplier delays. There were also issues 

with the contractor. Where there are issues with the contractor in terms of not meeting the 

scheme completion dates, the council is able to claim damages. Any lessons learnt are 

incorporated into the New Build Teams processes, for example, by updating the Employer 

Requirements or New Build Checklist. 

4.4. It should be noted that the majority of the borough’s affordable housing development is 

undertaken by housing associations and private developers, and as such, the council has 

limited influence over timescales for delivery. Risk of delay increases for schemes in their 

early stages so while schemes due to complete in a financial year are delayed into the 

following financial year, future schemes are also slipping back so the expectation should 

not necessarily be that the following year will see larger number of homes delivered. 

4.5. However, the council is still on course to meet its corporate targets for affordable homes 

delivery and the council new build programme has seven schemes completing in 2017/18 

delivering 158 new homes, the vast majority of which are for social rent. 

 Effective management of council housing stock 

4.6. The volume of major works over three months old as a % of Partners' total major works 

repairs has reduced from the last report to 10% up to the end of March 2017. 

4.7. There are 23 major repairs over 3 months, the current status of which is identified as: 12 of 

the 23 work are now underway whilst 5 of the 23 are still delayed as a result of legal 

processes associated with leaseholders who can scrutinise proposed works under the 

Section 20 process, planning requirements and Party Wall protocols, which need to be 

completed with neighbouring properties. The remaining repairs are delayed due to 

operational issues such as problems arranging access to the property and difficulty 

accessing required materials. 

4.8. Repairs continues to make good progress in delivering improvements to performance 

indicators. Mainly the results are positive with First Time Fix and Satisfaction in the top 

quartile nationally and in London. Complains have risen although not as a percentage of 

jobs suggesting the increase is a function of increased job numbers. 

4.9. The new repairs IT system is due for launch 3rd of July which should lead to further 

improvements and efficiencies in the long term. However it is predicted that as the service 

accustoms to the new system and it works through initial teething problems there will be 

some drop in performance. The impact of this change is difficult to predict and the service is 

making every effort through training and testing to minimise the effect. However this is a 

fundamental change to how the business operates and a complex system to launch. 

4.10. Rent arrears reduced at the end of quarter 4 to 1.77% as a percentage against the rent roll. 

We have managed to reduce the increase in arrears from over the Christmas and New 

Year period. 

4.11. Income Recovery teams have continued to contact and support tenants by referrals to our 

Partners and utilised the Resident Support Scheme to assist tenants affected by welfare 

Page 13

outlook-data-detector://0/


 

4 
 

reform. Working directly with the IMAX team with those affected by the new level of Benefit 

Cap introduced from 07.11.16, which has also been assisted with a Discretionary Housing 

Payment (DHP) to cover the Benefit Cap shortfall until 02.04.17. During this period of time 

further support will be provided to either achieve exemption from the Benefit Cap or 

providing assistance to help residents move into work. 

4.12. We are pleased to have reduced the arrears below the target of 2.0%. This has been 

achieved against a background of an increasing number of Universal Credit cases and the 

reduced levels for the Benefit Cap cases. 

4.13. Rent arrears as a percentage of the rent roll at the end of Q4 was an overall figure for 

Partners of 2.10%; the year end rent arrears position for PFI 1 = 1.71% and PFI 2 = 2.32%. 

4.14. Partners total rent arrears as a percentage of the rent roll fell to 2.09% at the end of Q4 of 

2016-17. That is a reduction during the year of 0.08% - from 2.17% - and this reflects 

continued good rent collection. Rent collected as a proportion of the rent due in the year, 

achieved 100.1%, another indication of the good performance 

4.15. At 03.04.17 the percentage against the rent roll has been reduced to 1.77%, against a 

target of 2.0% for LBI income recovery teams: 

  LBI 1.77% 

 PFI 1 1.71% 

 PFI 2 2.32% 

 Total for PFI 2.10% 

  Overall total (LBI & PFI) 1.84% 

Reduce homelessness 

  

4.16. The number of households accepted as homeless in this financial year are within target of 

less than 400 acceptances. This is due to successful work in preventing and delaying 

homelessness that the service is undertaking as preparation for the implementation of the 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  

4.17. National data for the financial year is not yet available however nationally, homelessness 

acceptances in Quarter 1 of 2016-17 increased by 10% when compared with the same 

quarter in the previous year, acceptances in Quarter 2 of 2016-17 increased by 2% when 

compared with the same quarter in the previous year and in Quarter 3 of 2016/17 were 

down 0.4% compared to the same quarter last year. Islington’s acceptances increased by 

5.6% on the previous year. 

4.18. The high cost of private renting in Islington means that residents are no longer able to 

access the private rented sector as an alternative to making a homelessness application. 

4.19. Our initial target for reduction in the numbers of households in nightly booked temporary 

accommodation (TA) was 421. This was met in Jan 2017 (411). The target was then 

revised down to 400. This was met in February (378), and the end of year figure was 374. 

The reasons for this successful reduction are down to implementation of our TA reduction 

strategy, which includes increased move on to permanent accommodation, and a more 

rigorous approach at the front end, to minimise TA bookings and homeless acceptances. 

This puts our number of households in Temporary Accommodation at its lowest since 

September 1998. To put this into a national context; the total number of households in 

temporary accommodation on 31 December 2016 was 75,740, up 10% on a year earlier, 

and up 58% on the low of 48,010 on 31 December 2010. 

Page 14



 

5 
 

Background Papers: None  
 
Appendices: None  

 

Final Report Clearance: 
 
 
 

 
Signed by 

 
…………………………………………………… 

 5 June 2017 
……………. 

 Executive Member for Housing and Development  Date 

 

Report author:  
Name: Jo Fry, Performance Team Manager, Housing and Adult Social Services 
Tel: 020 7527 2679 
E-mail: jo.fry@islington.gov.uk  
 

Page 15

mailto:jo.fry@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

Housing Services for Vulnerable People 
 

 
 
 

DRAFT REPORT OF THE  
HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

London Borough of Islington 
June 2017 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



1 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Housing Services for Vulnerable People 
 
 
 
Aim: To review the effectiveness of the housing services the council provides to vulnerable people   
 
 
Evidence 
The review ran from July 2016 until March 2017 and evidence was received from a variety of 
sources: 
 
1. Presentations from council officers  

 Maxine Holdsworth, Service Director for Housing Needs and Strategy 

 Paul Byer, Service Development Manager 

 Claudia Thompson, Assistant Director for Adults Integrated Community Services 

 Cora Nicholls, Housing Options Manager, and Vicky Manser, Principal Re-Housing Manager 

 Jon Farrant, Head of Tenancy and Estate Services 

 Glenn McCorkindale, Property Services Programme Manager 

 
2. Documentary evidence  

 Summary of the specialist housing services provided to vulnerable people 

 Summary of the housing services provided to vulnerable people by LB Haringey  
 

3. Information from witnesses 

 Members of the Housing Disability Panel 

 Clare Norton, Chief Executive Officer, and Pet Yesufu, Supported Housing Manager,  
Peter Bedford Housing Association 

 Ismail Bahriyeli, Carers Services Manager, and Andy Murphy, Chief Executive,  
Age UK Islington 

 Tom Irvine, Service Improvement and Engagement Manager, Partners for Improvement in 
Islington  

 
4. Scrutiny visit  

 Visit to Hornsey Road Reception Centre 

 Visit to Disability Action in Islington to discuss the draft recommendations with 
representatives of the Housing Disability Panel 
 

Main Findings  
 
The Committee considered how housing services define vulnerability. The Housing Service’s IT 
systems recognise eight categories of vulnerability; blindness, learning disability, mental health, 
physical impairment, deafness, mobility issues, wheelchair user, and ‘other’. The ‘other’ category 
may be used to flag that the household includes young children or frail elderly people. 
 
Residents may be vulnerable for a number of reasons. Their vulnerability may be linked to a single 
issue or impairment, or they may have multiple vulnerabilities. Vulnerable people generally have 
additional needs which necessitate either additional or tailored housing services; however the 
services they require depend on the effect and extent of their vulnerability. Vulnerable people may 
be disabled, however not all disabled people are vulnerable. The impact of someone’s vulnerability 
may depend on circumstances, such as the condition of their home and living arrangements.  
 

Page 18



2 

 

The Committee thought that the current definitions of vulnerability used by the council’s housing 
services were not particularly helpful to officers or residents. The categorisations of vulnerability are 
broad and do not make reference to the individual needs of residents and how their interactions with 
the housing service may be affected. It is suggested that adopting more refined definitions would 
help to ensure that services are focused appropriately on meeting the additional needs of those who 
would be at risk or would suffer a loss of wellbeing if their needs were not met. Adopting definitions 
based on recognising additional needs, rather than vulnerabilities, may be an appropriate way of 
ensuring that housing services are able to offer a more personalised service to those who need it 
most.  
 

It is recommended that Housing Services should clarify their definitions of vulnerability and 
disability, and how these relate to each other. 
 

The Committee received evidence on the range of housing options available to vulnerable and 
disabled people. Vulnerable elderly residents may be eligible for sheltered housing schemes, extra 
care sheltered housing, or care homes, depending on their level of need. Those with mental health 
issues may be eligible for supported accommodation or residential care; different options are 
available for those with different needs. Homeless residents may be accommodated in reception 
centres while their homelessness application is processed. Disabled residents may be eligible for 
supported accommodation. There are specialist housing pathways for those with substance misuse 
issues. Residents who are terminally ill may be eligible for hospice accommodation.  
 
The Committee concluded that there is a comprehensive range of specialist housing options 
available for those with significant needs. However, specialist housing is not appropriate or 
necessary for all vulnerable people, and the council faces a severe shortage of general needs 
housing for vulnerable and disabled people who are able to live independently. There are over 
20,000 households on the council’s housing register, with 9,000 households in housing need, yet 
only around 1,000 properties available to be let a year. Although the council is developing new 
housing, the new requirement to sell housing to fund Right to Buy discounts may result in an overall 
decrease to the council’s housing supply, reducing the council’s ability to rehouse vulnerable people 
and contributing further to the significant ‘points inflation’ experienced in recent years. The 
Committee is particularly concerned about this.  
 
Whilst the council does publicise the shortage of available housing, the Committee heard that some 
residents do not have realistic expectations of the council’s housing supply and what they may be 
able to successfully bid for. It is suggested that communications around the council’s housing 
supply are strengthened to help vulnerable people make more informed decisions about their 
housing options. Although the council’s website does detail the average number of points needed to 
successfully bid for a property, providing more tangible examples may help to demonstrate the 
shortage of housing.   
 

It is therefore recommended that Housing Services further publicise the shortage of council 
housing in order to set realistic expectations of what residents may be able to successfully 
bid for. It is recommended that anonymised case studies are used where appropriate to 
illustrate the shortage of housing and to help disabled and vulnerable people choose the 
‘best available option’.   
 

The Committee received evidence on the range of additional housing services offered to vulnerable 
and disabled people. This includes an annual programme of visits to tenants aged 75 and over, 
referrals to services that help vulnerable people manage their tenancies, and visits to vulnerable 
and disabled people prior to capital works commencing. The Responsive Repairs service assigns 
additional priority to vulnerable people if their repair is considered detrimental to their needs. 
Assisted decoration and discretionary repairs schemes are available to tenants aged over 70 and 
those in receipt of certain disability benefits. Discretionary repairs may also be available to those 
with mental health issues. An adaptations service is available to assist disabled and vulnerable 

Page 19



3 

 

tenants, and work is underway to make this service more efficient by training housing officers to be 
Trusted Assessors; this will allow housing officers to make assessments and install minor 
adaptations without further referral to Occupational Health. A handyperson scheme for small DIY 
jobs is available for older, disabled and vulnerable people; this is available to all residents, including 
those in private or housing association properties. Some services may be chargeable and different 
eligibility criteria apply.    
 
The Committee welcomes that there is a wide range of additional services available, however notes 
that these seem to be planned on a service-level basis. Officers do not have a comprehensive 
understanding of all of the additional housing services which vulnerable and disabled tenants may 
be entitled to. The Committee heard that the preference of the Housing Disability Panel would be for 
one officer to be responsible for coordinating the housing offer for disabled and vulnerable people 
as this would ensure that clear information was available through a single point of contact. The 
Committee recognises that it may not be possible to establish a single contact point within existing 
resources; however considers that having a comprehensive and accessible resource detailing the 
services available would benefit both residents and officers. A guide to the additional services 
offered would help to direct enquiries to the most appropriate section and assist with establishing 
resident expectations. It would be particularly useful for this to detail the limits of support offered and 
to provide advice on how best to access services not offered by the council. 
 
It is therefore recommended that the information on housing services for vulnerable people 
be reviewed to provide a comprehensive resource, setting out the services provided by the 
council, eligibility criteria, any limits to that support, and advice on how to access services 
that the council does not provide. This should be provided in a range of accessible formats, 
as required by legislation. 
 
The Committee heard varied evidence on the accessibility of housing services. Whilst officers 
provided examples of how the accessibility of services has increased significantly in recent years, 
the evidence received from service users from the Housing Disability Panel indicated that further 
work is required to improve accessibility and communication and engagement with service users.  
 

The Committee welcomed that housing services have become more accessible in recent years 
through innovations such as telephone-based interpreting services, web-based sign-language 
interpreters, and accessible online services. However, it was reported that the accessibility of 
services could be improved further. For example, more complex repairs are not able to be reported 
through the council’s website and have to be reported by telephone, which is not an accessible 
communication method for all people. The Committee considered that all transactional processes 
should be able to be carried out entirely online; however it is also important to maintain alternative 
ways of accessing housing services for those not able to access the internet. 
 
It is recommended that key online customer processes be reviewed to identify and close 
gaps in accessibility. All housing transactions should be able to be carried out without use 
of a telephone or having to visit council offices; the introduction of a webchat function would 
be welcomed. However, it should also be recognised that exclusively online services are not 
accessible to all. 
 
The Committee gave particular consideration to the accessibility of the Housing Options service. 
Whilst it was found that the bidding system was accessible to those with disabilities, it was 
considered that improvements could be made to the moving process. The Committee heard 
instances of when vulnerable tenants had successfully bid for properties and thought that 
adaptations and other works would be completed before they moved in, only to find that these had 
not been carried out. It was thought that such issues were unnecessary and could be resolved 
through better communication around the moving process.  
 

Page 20



4 

 

The Committee recommends that, when moving into a council property, disabled and 
vulnerable tenants should be consulted on the repairs and adaptations that are required to 
the property. The works to be carried out should be confirmed in writing with indicative 
timescales to ensure that both the council and the tenant have mutually agreed expectations.   
  
Overall the evidence received suggested that although the council has developed the accessibility 
of housing services, disabled and vulnerable peoples’ experiences of those services can vary 
considerably. The Committee noted examples of unacceptable experiences, including a wheelchair 
being removed from a resident’s home by a contractor, strained relationships with housing officers, 
and difficulties in accessing information about services.  
 
Whilst the council’s housing services generally have good levels of customer satisfaction, the 
Committee appreciates that sometimes things go wrong and is concerned that poor customer 
service can have a significant detrimental effect on vulnerable and disabled people, more so than 
other residents. Service users reported feeling frustrated, and commented that poor experiences 
could discourage vulnerable and disabled people from accessing services which they need and are 
entitled to. The Committee thought that sharing and reviewing service standards with disabled and 
vulnerable people would help to ensure that officers and service users have shared expectations of 
how the council should work with vulnerable and disabled people. 
 
It is recommended that housing services publish the standards which they seek to meet 
when communicating and engaging with disabled and vulnerable people, and should 
consider reviewing service standards and feedback mechanisms with service users. 
 
Evidence received from the Housing Disability Panel indicated that housing services’ engagement 
with vulnerable and disabled people is variable. The council’s Corporate Plan commits the council to 
co-production and person-centred services; however the Housing Disability Panel thought that 
these principles were not applied consistently, commenting that consultation with service users 
sometimes appeared to be an afterthought, rather than a key stage in the decision-making process.   
The Committee agrees that involving vulnerable and disabled people in how services and planned, 
delivered and monitored is the best way in ensuring that services work for vulnerable people.  
 
The Committee recommends that consideration be given to how the voices of vulnerable 
people can be heard earlier in decision-making processes on procurement, commissioning 
and designing services; and how vulnerable people can be further involved in service 
monitoring and evaluation. 
 
The Committee was concerned that some vulnerable people could be unknown to housing services, 
however agreed that there are many opportunities for staff to identify disabled and vulnerable 
people. The Committee welcomed that staff receive training on identification and referral 
mechanisms, however, concerns were raised that some officers did not have a detailed 
understanding of the specific needs of vulnerable and disabled people and how these could have 
practical implications on how they deliver their service. It is thought that a better service could be 
provided to residents if staff received further information on how to support residents with additional 
needs. Reviewing the way in which staff are trained alongside service users such as the Housing 
Disability Panel would be an effective method of ensuring that staff have access to the information 
they need.  
 

It is therefore recommended that Housing Services should review how staff are trained, kept 
up to date, and access information on how to best support residents with additional needs. 
This review should be in conjunction with service users, to identify knowledge and skills 
gaps and agree how these should be resolved. Staff need to understand how additional 
needs will have a practical impact on their work and their interactions with residents. 
 

Page 21



5 

 

In addition to reviewing staff training, it is thought that developing the data held by housing services 
would assist staff when delivering services to vulnerable and disabled people. Holding detailed data 
based on resident needs, rather than vulnerabilities, would support officers in providing more 
customer-focused services. Officers advised that such information would also generate efficiencies 
by helping to clarify resource requirements in advance of services being delivered. Such a system 
would be most effective if multiple services were able to access and contribute to the data, as this 
would support integrated working between services in more complex scenarios. 
 
A comprehensive needs matrix should be developed to enable housing services to record 
the needs of vulnerable and disabled people in greater detail. This will help to ensure that 
staff have the right resources and are aware of how they need to adapt their services for 
those with additional needs. 
 

The Committee considered how more detailed information on the needs of vulnerable and disabled 
people could be generated. It was thought that relying on self-referral mechanisms would not be 
sufficient to capture information on the complex and unique needs of residents. Staff on estates 
such as caretakers provide a vital link between residents and the council, and the Committee 
suggests that developing this relationship further will greatly assist capturing detailed information on 
resident needs.  
 
In order to develop the relationship between the council and local communities, 
consideration should be given to making the Housing Operations service more ‘holistic’, 
whereby a greater range of services are provided to residents on a more local basis. 
 
The data on resident needs could also be informed by existing data held by other services. Although 
it was highlighted that services may not always be able to share sensitive data with other 
departments, the Committee considered that barriers to accessing data should be minimised as far 
as possible to enable the council and its contractors to provide good quality services.    
 
The council should review its information governance responsibilities and data sharing 
agreements to ensure that the support needs of residents are known to the services that 
need this information. It is important that housing services and contractors can access 
residents’ data securely to enable them to provide high quality services to vulnerable people. 
 
The Committee was keen to ensure that the council’s housing services for vulnerable people were 
in line with those of other housing providers and incorporated best practice approaches. Overall the 
Committee considered that the council’s housing services for vulnerable people were largely in line 
with those of other housing providers. However, the Committee was particularly impressed with the 
ethos of Peter Bedford Housing Association, a specialist housing provider for vulnerable people, 
which focused all of its services around providing holistic support to residents.  
 
The Committee found that there is a great deal of joint working between the council’s housing 
services and other services, however thought that some relationships could be made more 
effective. Staff at the Hornsey Road Reception Centre commented that communication between 
services could be improved, and highlighted that one particular issue was hospitals directly 
discharging patients to reception centres, noting that this sometimes resulted in residents not 
receiving the support they required.  
 
It is recommended that liaison between housing, social services and NHS services be 
reviewed in regards to hospital discharge arrangements; to ensure that reception centres 
and other relevant housing services are aware of care needs and that disabled and 
vulnerable people are fully supported.    
 
It was also considered that further joint working was needed with the council’s housing contractors 
to ensure that they adequately meet the needs of vulnerable people. The Housing Disability Panel 

Page 22



6 

 

commented that the service received from contractors was inconsistent, that they seemingly were 
not aware of their duty to make reasonable adjustments under the Equality Act 2010, and that they 
were often not aware of disabled and vulnerable people’s needs.  
 
It is recommended that housing services should set clear expectations for contractors about 
working with disabled and vulnerable residents; this should include standards for staff 
training and accessibility. Compliance should be enforceable and regularly monitored to 
ensure that contractors are compliant with relevant disability legislation and that they are 
responsive to the needs of vulnerable and disabled people. Housing contractors should also 
be required to report any welfare concerns they have to the Housing service.  
  
The Committee considered the views and experiences of carers, who have a unique insight into the 
housing issues affecting vulnerable people and could also be vulnerable themselves. Age UK 
Islington had carried out a survey of carers to gauge their opinions on housing services for 
vulnerable people. It was found that 13% of the organisation’s casework was housing related. Age 
UK surveyed 36 carers and identified four main housing-related themes; rehousing, repairs, money 
(i.e. financial support with housing and utilities costs), and aids and adaptations. Feedback on the 
council’s services was generally mixed. 
 
The Housing Operations service is to carry out a fundamental review of the council’s housing offer 
over the next year. This is intended to review how Housing works with other services and how the 
service could be more personalised and user-led, with a focus on the integration of services and 
early-intervention to support the independence and resilience of vulnerable people. The Committee 
consider that vulnerable and disabled people must be engaged in this review; both through 
representative organisations such as Disability Action in Islington and on an individual basis.  
 
It is recommended that service user groups should be invited to participate in the 
forthcoming review of the Council’s housing management services, and other service 
reviews as appropriate. 
 
Conclusions 
 
The Committee welcomes the council provides a wide range of specialist housing options and 
additional housing services to disabled and vulnerable people. However, it is considered that these 
services could be made more effective. One particular area for improvement is communication and 
engagement, which appears to be at the heart of many of the issues raised by both residents and 
officers.  
 
Developing communication between housing, other services, and contractors will help to ensure 
that staff have access to comprehensive, accurate and practical information on resident needs, 
which will support them in delivering housing services more effectively.  Further communication and 
engagement with disabled and vulnerable people will help to ensure that services are meeting their 
needs, that residents are aware of the services available and how to access them, and what can be 
expected from those services. 
 
The Committee has made 14 recommendations in response to the evidence received. It is hoped 
that the Committee’s recommendations will assist the council in providing more effective and more 
personalised housing services, which will support the overall wellbeing of vulnerable people and 
help to maintain or develop their independence and resilience.  
 
In carrying out the review, the Committee met with officers, service users, and other housing 
providers to gain a balanced view. The Committee would like to thank the witnesses that gave 
evidence in relation to the scrutiny. The Executive is asked to endorse the Committee’s 
recommendations. 
 

Page 23



7 

 

Recommendations  

 

1. Housing Services should clarify their definitions of vulnerability and disability, and how these 

relate to each other.  

 

2. Housing Services should further publicise the shortage of council housing in order to set 

realistic expectations of what residents may be able to successfully bid for. It is 

recommended that anonymised case studies are used where appropriate to illustrate the 

shortage of housing and to help disabled and vulnerable people choose the ‘best available 

option’.   

 

3. That the information on housing services for vulnerable people be reviewed to provide a 

comprehensive resource, setting out the services provided by the council, eligibility criteria, 

any limits to that support, and advice on how to access services that the council does not 

provide. This should be provided in a range of accessible formats, as required by legislation.    

 

4. Key online customer processes be reviewed to identify and close gaps in accessibility. All 

housing transactions should be able to be carried out without use of a telephone or having to 

visit council offices; the introduction of a webchat function would be welcomed. However, it 

should also be recognised that exclusively online services are not accessible to all.  

 

5. The council should review its information governance responsibilities and data sharing 

agreements to ensure that the support needs of residents are known to the services that 

need this information. It is important that housing services and contractors can access 

residents’ data securely to enable them to provide high quality services to vulnerable people.  

 

6. Consideration be given to how the voices of vulnerable people can be heard earlier in 

decision-making processes on procurement, commissioning and designing services; and 

how vulnerable people can be further involved in service monitoring and evaluation.  

 

7. Housing Services should review how staff are trained, kept up to date, and access 

information on how to best support tenants with additional needs. This review should be in 

conjunction with service users, to identify knowledge and skills gaps and agree how these 

should be resolved. Staff need to understand how additional needs will have a practical 

impact on their work and their interactions with residents.   

 

8. A comprehensive needs matrix should be developed to enable housing services to record 

the needs of vulnerable and disabled people in greater detail. This will help to ensure that 

staff have the right resources and are aware of how they need to adapt their services for 

those with additional needs.    

 

 

Page 24



8 

 

9. When moving into a council property, disabled and vulnerable tenants should be consulted 

on the repairs and adaptations that are required to the property. The works to be carried out 

should be confirmed in writing with indicative timescales to ensure that both the council and 

the tenant have mutually agreed expectations.    

 

10. Housing services should publish the standards which they seek to meet when 

communicating and engaging with disabled and vulnerable people, and should consider 

reviewing service standards and feedback mechanisms with service users.  

 

11. In order to develop the relationship between the council and local communities, 

consideration should be given to making the Housing Operations service more ‘holistic’, 

whereby a greater range of services are provided to residents on a more local basis.  

 

12. Housing Services should set clear expectations for contractors about working with disabled 

and vulnerable residents; this should include standards for staff training and accessibility. 

Compliance should be enforceable and regularly monitored to ensure that contractors are 

compliant with relevant disability legislation and that they are responsive to the needs of 

vulnerable and disabled people. Housing contractors should also be required to report any 

welfare concerns they have to the Housing service.  

 

13. Liaison between housing, social services and NHS services be reviewed in regards to 

hospital discharge arrangements; to ensure that reception centres and other relevant 

housing services are aware of care needs and that disabled and vulnerable people are fully 

supported.    

 

14. Service user groups should be invited to participate in the forthcoming review of the 

Council’s housing management services, and other service reviews as appropriate. 

 

Page 25



9 

 

 
 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 2016/17 
 
 
 
Councillors:  
Councillor Michael O'Sullivan (Chair)   
Councillor Marian Spall (Vice-Chair)   
Councillor Gary Doolan      
Councillor Aysegul Erdogan     
Councillor Osh Gantly 
Councillor Mouna Hamitouche MBE 
Councillor Una O'Halloran     
Councillor Angela Picknell      
 
Observers: 
Rose-Marie McDonald – PFI Managed Tenants     
Jim Rooke – Directly Managed Tenants   
 
Substitutes: 
Councillor Raphael Andrews   
Councillor Alex Diner 
Councillor Satnam Gill 
Councillor Gary Heather 
Councillor Olly Parker     
Councillor Alice Perry   
Councillor Dave Poyser   
      
 
 
 
 
Acknowledgements:   
The Committee would like to thank all the witnesses who gave evidence to the review. 
 
 
Officer Support:    
Paul Byer – Service Development Manager  
Jonathan Moore – Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



10 

 

 
1. Introduction  

 
1.1 The Committee commenced the review in July 2016 with the overall aim of reviewing the 

effectiveness of the housing services the council provides to vulnerable people.   
 

The Committee also agreed to the following objectives: 
 

 To identify and assess the housing options and additional housing services available to 
vulnerable people 

 To confirm that the council’s housing services are accessible to vulnerable people 

 To assess how vulnerable people and their particular needs are identified by housing 
services 

 To evaluate how the council’s housing services communicate and engage with vulnerable 
people  

 To benchmark the council’s housing services for vulnerable people against those of other 
housing providers and to identify best practice  

 To review the extent of joint working with adult social care and others. 
 

1.2 The Committee consulted the Housing Disability Panel on the scrutiny initiation document and 
amendments were made as a result.  
 

1.3 In carrying out the review the Committee met with several officers from Housing and Adult Social 
Services, service users from the Housing Disability Panel, and representatives from Partners for 
Improvement in Islington, Age UK, and Peter Bedford Housing Association, a specialist housing 
provider for vulnerable and disabled people. The Committee also visited the reception centre at 
305 Hornsey Road.  
 
Local context  
 

1.4 The council’s Corporate Plan states ‘We want to ensure that everyone in Islington has a place to 
live that is affordable, decent and secure’. It states that a priority of the council is ‘making 
Islington a place where our residents have a good quality of life’ and this will be achieved by 
supporting vulnerable residents and carers and helping residents to live healthy independent 
lives. The Corporate Plan is underpinned by the council’s principles of early intervention and 
prevention, people-centred services, co-production, strong partnerships, making every contact 
count, and being employment focussed. 
 

1.5 Specialist or additional housing services for vulnerable people are provided by several teams 
across the Housing and Adult Social Services directorate. Different services have different 
eligibility criteria, which may be based on age, vulnerability, or tenure. Some services are only 
available to council tenants, whereas others are available to all. In total there are around 4,000 
residents flagged to the housing service as being vulnerable.   
 

1.6 The Committee decided to undertake this review in the context of the significant financial 
challenges facing the council. By 2020 national government will have cut its funding to Islington 
Council by 70 per cent since 2010. The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 introduced a 1 per 
cent annual reduction in social rents over the next four years; resulting in a loss of £71 million 
income to the housing service, and a £1.7 billion loss if the 1 per cent reduction continues over 
the life of the business plan. The Committee was keen to ensure that the housing services 
provided to vulnerable people remain effective and accessible in the face of the severe budget 
reductions.  
 

 

Page 27



11 

 

2. Findings 
 

Who are ‘Vulnerable People’?  
 

2.1 The Committee considered how housing services define vulnerability. The Housing Service’s IT 
systems recognise eight categories of vulnerability; blindness, learning disability, mental health, 
physical impairment, deafness, mobility issues, wheelchair user, and ‘other’. The ‘other’ category 
may be used to flag that the household includes young children or frail elderly people. How these 
vulnerable people are identified is explored in detail elsewhere in this report.    
 

2.2 Residents may be vulnerable for a number of reasons. Their vulnerability may be linked to a 
single issue or impairment, or they may have multiple vulnerabilities. Vulnerable people generally 
have additional needs which necessitate either additional or tailored housing services; however 
the services they require depend on the effect and extent of their vulnerability. Vulnerable people 
may be disabled, however not all disabled people are vulnerable. The impact of someone’s 
vulnerability may depend on circumstances; someone with mobility issues may be very 
vulnerable if living in unsuitable housing, however may not be if living in an accessible and 
adapted home. A person may be very vulnerable if they live by themselves, however may not be 
if they live with a family member or carer. Some people may consider themselves to be 
vulnerable; whereas some people with additional needs have a high level of independence and 
would not consider themselves to be vulnerable.   
 

2.3 The Committee thought that the current definition of vulnerability used by the council’s housing 
services was not particularly helpful to officers or residents. Although it is useful for housing 
services to know if a resident has a mental health issue (for example), many residents will be 
captured by this categorisation, without any reference to their individual needs and how these will 
affect interactions with the housing service. Categories such as ‘learning disability’ and ‘physical 
impairment’ are also particularly broad, and people experiencing those issues will have very 
specific and different needs to one another.  
 

2.4 It is suggested that adopting more refined definitions would help to ensure that services are 
focused appropriately on meeting the additional needs of those who would be at risk or would 
suffer a loss of wellbeing if their needs were not met. Adopting definitions based on recognising 
additional needs, rather than vulnerabilities, may be an appropriate way of ensuring that housing 
services are able to offer a more personalised service to those who need it most.  
 

2.5 It is recommended that Housing Services should clarify their definitions of vulnerability 
and disability, and how these relate to each other. 

 
The housing options available to vulnerable people 
 

2.6 The Committee received evidence on the range of housing options available to vulnerable and 
disabled people. The housing services available to vulnerable and disabled people are informed 
by the Care Act 2014, which places a duty on local authorities to promote individual wellbeing. 
‘Wellbeing’ is defined in the Act as having reference to personal dignity, physical and mental 
health, protection from abuse and neglect, suitable living accommodation, and other factors.  
 

2.7 Vulnerable elderly residents may be eligible for specialist housing options to meet their needs. 
There are approximately 700 older Islington residents in sheltered housing schemes, which is 
permanent accommodation for those with relatively low level needs. Around 90 residents are in 
extra care sheltered housing, which is suitable for those with moderate needs. Such schemes 
are staffed on a 24 hour basis and are provided with additional GP cover due to the health needs 
of residents. Those with a high level of need may be eligible for care home accommodation; 
there are eight care homes in Islington which often providing nursing care alongside support to 
the residents’ personal health and social wellbeing.  

Page 28



12 

 

 
2.8 Residents with mental health issues may be eligible for supported accommodation. This provides 

tiered support to adults with various levels of need; different options are available for those with 
low, medium and high levels of need. Residents are supported by staff who provide one-to-one 
support and help residents to develop independent living skills, such as budget management, 
healthy eating, engagement in community activities, accessing employment or education, and 
assisting with physical health. Use of supported accommodation for those with mental health 
issues is usually time limited to two years; it is intended that the residents develop independent 
living skills before moving back into their own accommodation. There council has contracts to 
support 246 adults residing in such accommodation.  
 

2.9 Residents with more significant mental health issues and a higher level of dependence may be 
eligible for residential care. This provides tailored support to those with very specific and high 
level needs; such as older homeless people with alcohol-related dementia, or elderly people with 
mental health needs. Residents tend to stay in residential care in the longer term, however if 
appropriate residents may be moved to supported accommodation or another setting which 
would provide them with a greater level of independence. The council has contracts to support 
32 adults residing in such accommodation.  
 

2.10 The council operates three reception centres which provide short-term emergency 
accommodation for vulnerable residents who have submitted a homelessness application. 
Members of the Committee visited the reception centre at 305 Hornsey Road, which provided 
basic accommodation to single adults and families. Once a homelessness application is granted 
the resident will generally move into temporary accommodation. The Committee was impressed 
with the standard of reception centre accommodation and commented that the visit was 
particularly useful to see first-hand how housing officers support residents with a range of 
vulnerabilities. Whilst reception centre accommodation is intended to be temporary, it was noted 
that some residents can stay in the reception centre for several months while their application is 
assessed.  
 

2.11 Other specialist housing options include a specific housing pathway for those with substance 
misuse issues; with 12 services offering a total of 209 bed spaces. There are also a range of 
supported accommodation options for those with disabilities, including learning disabilities. 
Residents who are terminally ill may be eligible for hospice accommodation, which is located 
outside of Islington and funded by Islington CCG.   
 

2.12 Although specialist housing options are required for those with the most significant needs, the 
majority of vulnerable and disabled people do not need specialist accommodation and live 
independently in general needs housing with varying levels of support. There are various support 
services available depending on need and eligibility, including services for those with specific 
conditions such as dementia, stroke, anxiety and depression; day services; reablement services; 
domiciliary care; drug and alcohol treatment services; and employment support services for 
those with specific needs.  
 

2.13 The Committee concluded that there is a comprehensive range of specialist housing options 
available for those with significant needs. However, specialist housing is not appropriate or 
necessary for all vulnerable people, and the council faces a severe shortage of general needs 
housing for vulnerable and disabled people who are able to live independently. The Committee is 
acutely aware that many vulnerable residents also experience overcrowding, which is particularly 
detrimental to family wellbeing and may result in inappropriate bedroom shares. Other vulnerable 
and disabled residents may be living in properties which are unsuitable to their needs in other 
ways; they may be difficult for people with impairments to access, or may not be able to be 
adapted appropriately. In all instances the council faces an increasingly small supply of 
properties to alleviate housing need. There are over 20,000 households on the council’s housing 
register, with 9,000 households in housing need, yet only around 1,000 properties available to be 

Page 29



13 

 

let a year. Although the council is currently developing new social housing, the council may be 
forced to sell up to a third of its vacant properties each year to fund Right to Buy discounts. This 
will further reduce the council’s ability to rehouse vulnerable people, exacerbating their housing 
needs and further increasing the ‘points inflation’ experienced in recent years. The Committee is 
concerned that the average number of points needed to successfully bid for a two bedroom 
property was over 280 in 2015/16; compared to around 220 in 2013/14.  
 

2.14 Whilst the council does publicise the shortage of available housing, the Committee heard that 
some residents do not have realistic expectations of the council’s housing supply and what they 
may be able to successfully bid for. Although some residents are vulnerable and in a high level of 
housing need, they may have their own criteria which are unlikely to be met by the council’s 
available housing stock. The Committee heard instances where residents had declined 
properties which would be more suitable for their needs than their current property. Whilst the 
Committee supports the principles of the council’s choice-based lettings scheme, it is felt that 
communications surrounding the council’s housing supply could be strengthened to help 
vulnerable people to make more informed options about their housing situation. Although the 
council’s website does detail the average number of points needed to successfully bid for a 
property, it is suggested that providing more tangible examples would help demonstrate the 
shortage of housing.   
 

2.15 It is therefore recommended that Housing Services further publicise the shortage of 
council housing in order to set realistic expectations of what residents may be able to 
successfully bid for. It is recommended that anonymised case studies are used where 
appropriate to illustrate the shortage of housing and to help disabled and vulnerable 
people choose the ‘best available option’.   
 

 The additional housing services available to vulnerable people  
 

2.16 The Committee received evidence on the range of additional housing services offered to 
vulnerable and disabled people. The Committee initially received a list of the support services 
available, and then received detailed evidence from officers on the services offered.  
 

2.17 An annual programme of visits to tenants aged 75 or over is carried out by the Tenancy 
Management team, with an annual target of visiting 400 tenants. These visits help to identify the 
needs of older people and referrals to social care or other support services are made as 
appropriate.  
 

2.18 Area Housing Offices make referrals to help vulnerable people manage their tenancies, for 
example through the floating support service provided by the Single Homeless Project. A total of 
340 referrals were made in 2015-16.  
 

2.19 Housing Operations visit disabled and vulnerable people prior to capital works commencing to 
establish if the works would have an adverse impact on their wellbeing, and if this could be 
mitigated. This frequently raised access issues which were considered when planning 
improvement projects.  
 

2.20 The Responsive Repairs service assigns additional priority to vulnerable people if their repair is 
considered detrimental to their needs. The repairs most likely to be escalated are electrical or 
pluming faults; however the decision on whether to escalate the repair is made by a team leader 
on a case by case basis. Officers noted that there may be cost implications and implications on 
wider service delivery when the priority of jobs is increased.    
 

2.21 Property Services offered an assisted decoration scheme to tenants aged over 70 and those in 
receipt of certain disability benefits. This provided tenants with an internal redecoration of their 

Page 30



14 

 

property every seven years. 57 properties were decorated through the scheme in 2015/16.  
 

2.22 Property services also offer a discretionary repairs scheme to tenants aged over 70 and those in 
receipt of certain disability benefits, through which 363 repairs were carried out in 2015/16. A 
further 15 repairs were carried out to support those with mental health problems; it was explained 
that this was because the condition of their property was either detrimental to their needs or was 
resulting in delayed discharge from specialist accommodation. The discretionary repairs service 
provides repairs which general needs tenants are not eligible for, however vulnerable and 
disabled people would have difficulty in carrying out themselves. Common discretionary repairs 
included fixing new toilet seats, repairs to kitchen units, and replacing lightbulbs.  
 

2.23 An adaptations service is available to assist disabled and vulnerable tenants to live 
independently. Around 1,200 adaptions projects are carried out each year, with 17% of these 
considered to be complex projects. Adaptations are generally limited to the inside of a tenant’s 
property however adaptations to communal areas will be considered and balanced against the 
needs of others. The team receives referrals directly from Occupational Therapy in Adult Social 
Services and employs specialist contractors to install, service and test equipment. Minor 
adaptations are installed within the repairs service’s standard 20 day response period, with more 
complex installations such as level access showers installed within 40 days. Satisfaction with the 
service was 99.5% in 2015/16. 
 

2.24 Property Services is working with Adult Social Services to trial a Trusted Assessor scheme. This 
enables housing officers to identify if a resident needs minor aids and adaptations to their 
property (i.e. grab rails) and then raise orders for these directly without further reference to 
Occupational Health. This is intended to improve efficiency, reduce the pressure on the 
Occupational Health team, and offer a faster and more streamlined service to residents.  
 

2.25 The Islington Handyperson Scheme provides small repairs and DIY-type jobs to older, disabled 
and vulnerable people. Typical jobs include building flat-pack furniture, installing curtain rails, and 
minor electrical works. The service is available to all; regardless of if they are a tenant, 
leaseholder, housing association tenant, or private tenant. There is a £28/hour charge for the 
service; however those on means tested benefits received the service at a subsidised rate of 
£10/hour. 785 residents made use of the service in 2015/16; around half of which were council 
tenants.     
 

2.26 Property services also make referrals to the Fire Brigade for a home visit where the residents 
have a higher than average risk from fire. This may include tenants with mobility impairments 
who would face difficulty in safely leaving their home in the event of a fire. 592 referrals were 
made in 2015/16.  
 

2.27 The Housing Needs service offers extra assistance to vulnerable and disabled tenants when they 
view a new property. This could take the form of offering a longer viewing, offering multiple 
viewings, or being more flexible on timings.  
 

2.28 The Customer Service Centre at 222 Upper Street provides ‘floor walkers’ to help vulnerable and 
disabled people who may need additional help accessing computer terminals. 
  

2.29 Whilst not an ‘additional’ service, improvements to meet the needs of disabled and vulnerable 
people are made through the capital works programme. This includes braille on all new door 
entry systems and lift controls, power assisted doors, and flashing light systems instead of 
doorbells for deaf residents.  

 
2.30 The Committee also noted that mainstream housing services can have an additional importance 

for disabled and vulnerable people. For example, the cleanliness and maintenance of estates 

Page 31



15 

 

was essential for those with mobility issues. Problems such as dog fouling may be trivial for 
some people, but can be particularly problematic for wheelchair users and those with visual 
impairments. 
 

2.31 Service users made a number of comments on the accessibility of the council’s housing services 
and these are considered in detail elsewhere in this report. As a general point, the Committee 
welcomes that a wide range of additional services are available, however notes that these seem 
to be planned on a service-level basis. Officers do not have a comprehensive understanding of 
all of the additional housing services which vulnerable and disabled tenants may be entitled to. 
The Committee heard that the preference of the Housing Disability Panel would be for one officer 
to be responsible for coordinating the housing offer for disabled and vulnerable people as this 
would ensure that clear information was available through a single point of contact. The 
Committee recognises that it may not be possible to establish a single contact point within 
existing resources; however considers that having a comprehensive and accessible resource 
detailing the services available would assist both residents and officers. A guide to the additional 
services offered would help to direct enquiries to the most appropriate section and assist with 
establishing resident expectations. It would be particularly useful for this to detail the limits of 
support offered and to provide advice on how best to access services not offered by the council. 
For example, the Committee heard that some disabled and vulnerable tenants requested 
decorative and gardening works which were not offered through the repairs service or the 
handyperson scheme. It would be helpful to advise how to access such services through the 
voluntary or community sector, or how to find reputable tradespeople in the private sector. Such 
a guide could be included in the new tenants pack.    
 

2.32 It is therefore recommended that the information on housing services for vulnerable 
people be reviewed to provide a comprehensive resource, setting out the services 
provided by the council, eligibility criteria, any limits to that support, and advice on how to 
access services that the council does not provide. This should be provided in a range of 
accessible formats, as required by legislation. 
 
Accessibility, Communication and Engagement 
 

2.33 The Committee heard varied evidence on the accessibility of housing services. Whilst officers 
provided examples of how the accessibility of services has increased significantly in recent 
years, the evidence received from the Housing Disability Panel indicated that further work is 
required to improve accessibility and communication and engagement with service users.  

 
2.34 Housing services have become more accessible in recent years. Officers have access to a 

telephone-based language interpretation service. Housing information, including tenancy 
agreements, can be provided in a range of formats, including an ‘easy-to-read’ format for those 
who have difficulties with written language. The Committee particularly welcomed innovations in 
the Repairs service, which now gives operatives access to sign-language interpreters through a 
tablet computer.  

 
2.35 The further development of the council’s online services has improved the accessibility of 

housing services to vulnerable and disabled people. Repairs are now able to be reported through 
the council’s website. The Housing Options website which allows residents to register on the 
housing waiting list and bid for properties includes translation and text re-sizing options. Online 
services are generally more accessible and the development of these services was welcomed by 
members and service users; however the Housing Disability Panel highlighted that the 
accessibility of services could be improved further. More complex repairs are not able to be 
reported through the council’s website and have to be reported by telephone, which is not an 
accessible communication method for all people. It was suggested that a webchat feature would 
be a more accessible alternative.  

Page 32



16 

 

 
2.36 The Committee considered that all transactional processes should be able to be carried out 

entirely online; however it is also important to maintain alternative ways of accessing housing 
services. Half of those unable to access the internet are disabled; so whilst online services may 
be more accessible to many people, the council must still make provision for residents who are 
not able to access the internet.      
 

2.37 It is recommended that key online customer processes be reviewed to identify and close 
gaps in accessibility. All housing transactions should be able to be carried out without 
use of a telephone or having to visit council offices; the introduction of a webchat 
function would be welcomed. However, it should also be recognised that exclusively 
online services are not accessible to all. 
 

2.38 The Committee gave particular consideration to the accessibility of the Housing Options service. 
It was welcomed that the Housing Options website has an automatic bid feature for those who 
are unable to routinely access the bidding system. The Committee noted the difficulties that 
vulnerable and disabled people face when bidding for a home and thought that more could be 
done to support them in this process. The Housing Options website details if a property has level 
access or if it has been adapted, however it was reported that this information is inconsistently 
provided by Area Housing Offices. The Committee thought that this was not acceptable and 
welcomed that work to increase the quality of this information received from Area Housing 
Offices was already underway.  
 

2.39 The Committee also considered small changes which could make a difference to vulnerable and 
disabled tenants. The Committee heard instances of when tenants had successfully bid for 
properties and thought that repairs and adaptations would be made before they moved in, only to 
find that these had not been carried out. The Committee thought that this caused unnecessary 
anguish and could be mitigated by simply consulting and agreeing with the tenant the works to 
be carried out and confirming these in writing. Providing timescales of when works would be 
completed would also help to set the expectations of tenants in advance of their move.   
 

2.40 The Committee recommends that, when moving into a council property, disabled and 
vulnerable tenants should be consulted on the repairs and adaptations that are required 
to the property. The works to be carried out should be confirmed in writing with indicative 
timescales to ensure that both the council and the tenant have mutually agreed 
expectations.   
  

2.41 Overall the evidence received suggested that although the council has developed the 
accessibility of housing services, disabled and vulnerable peoples’ experiences of those services 
can vary considerably. Some of the service users interviewed provided examples of particularly 
poor service from the council’s housing services. One resident advised that a council contractor 
had removed her wheelchair without replacement, resulting in her being unable to leave her 
home for several days. Another resident advised of a poor experience she had with a housing 
officer, who had repeatedly arranged repairs at times when she had previously stated she was 
unavailable due to medical appointments. One resident required adaptations to her home 
however had not been offered adequate help in accessing these despite raising the issue with 
the council. Service users reported that they sometimes found housing services difficult to 
navigate and spoke of being passed between different teams. It was evident that although staff 
receive training on disability issues and additional services for vulnerable residents are in place, 
this does not always ensure a positive experience for service users.  
 

2.42 The council’s housing services generally have good levels of customer satisfaction; with repairs 
satisfaction currently at around 90% and the Resident Satisfaction Surveys conducted every two 
years consistently rating overall tenant satisfaction at over 70%. However, the Committee 

Page 33



17 

 

appreciates that sometimes things will go wrong and is concerned that poor customer service 
can have a significant detrimental effect on vulnerable and disabled people, more so than other 
residents. Service users reported feeling frustrated, and commented that poor experiences could 
discourage vulnerable and disabled people from accessing services which they need and are 
entitled to. The Committee thought that sharing and reviewing service standards with disabled 
and vulnerable people would help to ensure that officers and service users have shared 
expectations of how the council should work with vulnerable and disabled people. The 
Committee did not consider service standards as part of the review, however it is suggested that 
these should align with the council’s agreed principles of people-centred services and co-
production, and officers should be aware of how these principles correspond to their own role.    

 
2.43 It was also thought that resident feedback mechanisms could be explored with service user 

groups. Although the council has an established complaints procedure, the Housing Disability 
Panel commented that a method of providing more immediate feedback on interactions with the 
housing service would help to shape services in a more direct way, and would ensure that 
positive interactions are also recognised.  
 

2.44 It is recommended that housing services publish the standards which they seek to meet 
when communicating and engaging with disabled and vulnerable people, and should 
consider reviewing service standards and feedback mechanisms with service users.  
 

2.45 The Committee considered how housing services engage with vulnerable and disabled people. 
The council’s housing services have established several resident groups, including the Housing 
Disability Panel, which is facilitated by Disability Action in Islington. This provides a forum for 
service users to review and feedback on housing services for disabled residents; however, 
evidence received from the Housing Disability Panel indicated that housing services’ 
engagement with vulnerable and disabled people is variable. Although it was recognised that 
some teams champion the needs of service users, it was commented that other teams take a 
more bureaucratic view, particularly when dealing with more complex issues. The council’s 
Corporate Plan commits the council to co-production and person-centred services; however the 
Housing Disability Panel thought that this was not applied consistently, commenting that 
consultation with service users sometimes appeared to be an afterthought, rather than a key 
stage in the decision-making process.     
 

2.46 The Committee agrees that involving vulnerable and disabled people in how services are 
planned and delivered is the best way in ensuring that services work for vulnerable people. This 
is not only relevant to how new services are designed, but how existing services are monitored 
and evaluated. Given the financial challenges facing the council, it is recognised that services 
may undergo a period of transformation in the coming years. It is important that service users, 
particularly the most vulnerable, are asked about their priorities as part of this process.  
 

2.47 Meaningful engagement with vulnerable people requires sustained effort and patience. The 
Housing Disability Panel commented on the need to empower disabled and vulnerable people; 
these people may not be confident in expressing their views, however engaging vulnerable 
people in consultations and service reviews not only ensures that housing services are designed 
to meet their needs, but provides added value by helping to build the skills and confidence of 
those taking part. The Housing Disability Panel is also keen for service users to be involved in 
the delivery of services; commenting that this would make services more empathetic to the 
needs of vulnerable people, and that disabled people would respond well to housing services 
being provided by other disabled people.  
 

 
 

Page 34



18 

 

2.48 The Committee recommends that consideration be given to how the voices of vulnerable 
people can be heard earlier in decision-making processes on procurement, 
commissioning and designing services; and how vulnerable people can be further 
involved in service monitoring and evaluation.  
 

  Identifying the needs of vulnerable and disabled people  
 

2.49 There are around 4,000 residents flagged by the housing service as being vulnerable. The 
Committee heard that the vast majority of these residents had been identified through self-
referral, often during a transaction with the service. For example, residents are asked about their 
vulnerabilities when completing a change of circumstances form or moving property. The extent 
of their vulnerability is self-defined by the residents themselves. Although housing officers 
advised that staff do occasionally identify vulnerable residents who were previously unknown to 
the service, the Committee expressed concern that housing services are overly reliant on 
residents themselves identifying their vulnerabilities to the council. There was a worry that 
residents who do not access housing services frequently may have needs that are unknown to 
the council and are not being adequately met.     
 

2.50 The Committee considered the significant opportunities the housing service has to engage with 
disabled and vulnerable people and identify their needs. The Housing Operations service carries 
out 14,000 home visits each year in relation to income and other tenancy matters. Officers meet 
with new tenants during the sign-up process and then carry out a home visit four weeks after 
their move. Caretakers interact with residents on a daily basis. The gas team should visit all 
properties with gas appliances annually to carry out a service, although it was highlighted that a 
number of tenants would not allow the council to access their property. Frontline staff receive 
training on identifying the needs of vulnerable and disabled tenants, as well as how to identify 
safeguarding issues and other risks, and referrals to support services are made as required.  
 

2.51 Although the Committee noted their concerns that some vulnerable people could be unknown to 
housing services, it was agreed that there are many opportunities for staff to identify disabled 
and vulnerable people. The Committee welcomed that staff receive training on identification and 
referral mechanisms, however, concerns were raised that some officers did not have a detailed 
understanding of the specific needs of vulnerable and disabled people and how these could have 
practical implications on how they deliver their services. For example, evidence from the Repairs 
service highlighted that housing services hold data on vulnerabilities rather than resident needs. 
Officers commented that sometimes it was difficult for staff to know how to react to this 
information; for example although staff may know that a resident has mobility issues, they may 
not know if they require access to specialist equipment; staff may know that residents have 
communication difficulties, but may not know how best to communicate with them. In addition, 
members of the Housing Disability Panel reported inconsistencies in how the statutory 
requirement for services to make reasonable adjustments was applied.  
 

2.52 It is thought that a more effective service could be provided to residents if staff received more 
relevant information on how to support residents with additional needs. Reviewing the way in 
which staff are trained alongside service users such as the Housing Disability Panel would be an 
effective method of ensuring that staff have access to the information they need.  
 

2.53 It is therefore recommended that Housing Services should review how staff are trained, 
kept up to date, and access information on how to best support residents with additional 
needs. This review should be in conjunction with service users, to identify knowledge and 
skills gaps and agree how these should be resolved. Staff need to understand how 
additional needs will have a practical impact on their work and their interactions with 
residents. 
 

Page 35



19 

 

2.54 In addition to reviewing staff training, it is thought that developing the data held by housing 
services would assist staff when delivering services to vulnerable and disabled people. It has 
already been highlighted that reviewing definitions of vulnerability may help to develop the 
council’s housing services. Similarly, holding detailed data based on resident needs, rather than 
vulnerabilities, would support officers in providing more customer-focused services. Officers 
advised that such information would also generate efficiencies by helping to clarify resource 
requirements in advance of services being carried out.  It is thought that such a system would be 
most effective if multiple services were able to access and contribute to the data, as this would 
support integrated working between services in more complex scenarios.  
 

2.55 A comprehensive needs matrix should be developed to enable housing services to record 
the needs of vulnerable and disabled people in greater detail. This will help to ensure that 
staff have the right resources and are aware of how they need to adapt their services for 
those with additional needs. 

 
2.56 The Committee also considered how housing services could develop more detailed information 

on the needs of vulnerable and disabled people. It was thought that relying on self-referral 
mechanisms would not be sufficient to capture the complex and unique needs of residents. 
Officers noted that staff on estates such as caretakers provide a vital link between residents and 
the council, and the Committee suggests that developing this relationship further will greatly 
assist capturing detailed information on resident needs. It was also commented that residents 
have a great deal of knowledge about their local area and community, particularly in relation to 
neighbours with additional needs and issues which may affect them more acutely than others, 
such as anti-social behaviour, dog fouling, trip hazards, and so on. Harnessing this information 
would be of significant benefit to the council’s housing services. Age UK also commented on the 
potential of the community in supporting vulnerable people, and advised of their long-term 
ambition to develop local volunteering schemes which would allow care to be provided by others 
in the community.     
 

2.57 It is essential for estates staff to have their own ‘patch’ to allow relationships with the community 
to develop. The Committee thought that a more ‘holistic’ housing operations service, delivered on 
a more local basis, would support the development of stronger relationships between officers and 
residents, A holistic service would deliver a greater range of support services alongside housing 
services, for example, it was suggested that Area Housing Offices could help residents with 
cognitive disabilities to complete forms, or help residents who are unable to access the internet 
to access online services. This would not only contribute to the wellbeing of tenants, but help 
them to manage their tenancy, finances, and to live independently.  
 

2.58 In order to develop the relationship between the council and local communities, 
consideration should be given to making the Housing Operations service more ‘holistic’, 
whereby a greater range of services are provided to residents on a more local basis. 
 

2.59 The data on resident needs could also be informed by existing data held by other departments.   
The Housing Disability Panel reported how frustrating it was for disabled people to have to repeat 
their needs to multiple officers, particularly when the council was already aware of these. Officers 
advised that these issues sometimes arose because social services may not be able to share 
sensitive information with housing, or housing may not be able to share sensitive information with 
contractors under the council’s existing data sharing agreements. However, the Housing 
Disability Panel suggested that it may be possible to share information on resident needs without 
reference to more sensitive data on vulnerabilities and personal circumstances. Whilst the 
security of sensitive data is essential, the Committee considered that barriers to accessing data 
should be minimised as far as possible to enable the council and its contractors to provide good 
quality services. This may involve thinking innovatively about data sharing agreements and how 
information is held. Services will also need to consider issues related to the ownership of data, to 
ensure that residents remain in control of how their information is processed.  

Page 36



20 

 

 
2.60 The council should review its information governance responsibilities and data sharing 

agreements to ensure that the support needs of residents are known to the services that 
need this information. It is important that housing services and contractors can access 
residents’ data securely to enable them to provide high quality services to vulnerable 
people. 
 
Benchmarking services and identifying best practice  

2.61 The Committee was keen to ensure that the council’s housing services for vulnerable people 
were in line with those of other housing providers and incorporated best practice approaches. 
Evidence was received from Partners for Improvement in Islington; Homes for Haringey; and 
Peter Bedford Housing Association, a specialist housing provider for vulnerable people. The 
Committee was particularly interested in the services provided by Partners, given that they 
manage 6,400 street properties owned by the council. The Committee thought that these 
residents should not receive a significantly different service to those in directly-managed 
properties.  

 
2.62 All Partners properties were general needs properties and were not specifically designed for 

those with support or care needs. Partners was aware that 21% of its tenants had a disability or 
impairment, however thought the true number would be higher. As with the council, Partners was 
largely reliant on self-referral of vulnerabilities. Partners only held the specific details of one third 
of tenants with a disability or impairment, with many choosing not to disclose this information to 
Partners.  

 
2.63 Partners acknowledged that it was not a specialist in providing support services to vulnerable 

people. As a result Partners was keen to work with Social Services to ensure that appropriate 
referrals were made when required. The importance of joint working with social care and other 
agencies was a key theme which emerged from all of the housing providers that gave evidence 
to the review. Islington Council’s own housing service is very well positioned to work in 
partnership with adult social care given that they sit within the same directorate.   

 
2.64 Partners provided enhanced services to vulnerable people which were similar to the council’s own. 

Heating and hot water repairs were prioritised for vulnerable people, with a 24 hour response target. 
Partners had a budget for discretionary repairs and adaptations, and also had a rolling programme of 
visiting older and vulnerable tenants. The Committee noted that Homes for Haringey also offered 
many services similar to those offered by Islington Council, including an enhanced repairs service, a 
handyperson scheme, and a programme of visiting elderly and vulnerable tenants.  

 
2.65 The evidence received from all housing providers indicated that it was commonplace for frontline 

staff to attend training courses on identifying the needs of vulnerable people. The council’s 
housing officers attended such courses, as well as courses on mental health first aid, 
safeguarding, disability awareness, deafness awareness, diversity, and managing conflict.  

 
2.66 The Committee identified that Peter Bedford Housing Association demonstrated good practice in 

a number of areas. As the housing provider operated on a relatively small scale, it was able to 
interact with all of its 275 tenants on a semi-regular basis. Vulnerable residents were supported in 
participating in community activities, taking up volunteering opportunities and developing relationships 

with their neighbours. The Committee was particularly impressed with the ethos of the housing 
association, which was focused on providing integrated care, holistic support, mutual trust, 
empathy, and empowering vulnerable residents to live independently. Some of the services 
provided by Peter Bedford Housing Association were already provided by the council. Peter 
Bedford Housing Association commented on the importance of incorporating the needs of 
vulnerable people into major incident response plans; the Committee was reassured that this 

Page 37



21 

 

work had already been carried out by the council. Peter Bedford also noted that documents for 
residents were produced in an easy to read format; Islington Council also did this for key 
documents.  
 

2.67 Peter Bedford Housing Association highlighted that it was particularly difficult for vulnerable 
people to save for private sector deposits and suggested that Islington Council could support 
vulnerable people further in this area; it was commented that the London Borough of Hackney 
provided vulnerable people with loans and grants for this purpose.  
 

2.68 Overall the Committee considered that the council’s housing services for vulnerable people were 
largely in line with those of other housing providers. However, the Committee particularly 
welcomed the ethos of Peter Bedford Housing Association, which was focused on providing 
holistic support to vulnerable people. It is hoped that the recommendations in this report will 
contribute towards making the council’s housing services more responsive to the needs of 
vulnerable people.  
 
Joint working between Housing and other services  

 
2.69 Joint working between Housing and other agencies is mandated by law; the Care Act introduced 

a statutory requirement for adult social services, children’s services, the NHS, and housing 
services to collaborate and cooperate. Local authorities are also required to work together to 
assist transitions across borders and from children’s to adult’s services.  
 

2.70 The relationships that Housing has with other services are formalised in a number of joint 
working protocols. These include protocols and guidance documents mutually agreed between 
Housing and Adult Social Services, Housing and Children’s Services, and documents formalising 
how joint working should take place between various organisations around specific issues, such 
as Mental Health, Hoarding, Domestic Violence, and the Independent Futures services for care 
leavers. The Committee did not scrutinise the content of joint working protocols in detail, however 
these covered how services should work together in terms of communication, escalation 
processes, referrals, and information sharing; and how housing services should deal with issues 
such as access to properties, income recovery, eviction, and so on.   
 

2.71 Joint working was not only limited to health and care services. The Committee welcomed 
partnership work with the Planning section to develop and implement housing standards which 
prioritise accessibility. Islington Council policy requires 10% of new homes to be wheelchair 
accessible, and all homes to be built to the National Housing Standard, which replaced the 
previous Lifetime Homes standard. This ensures that properties are able to be adapted as the 
needs of their residents change, as well as providing easy access and a WC at ground level. The 
Committee recognised that many older properties were difficult to adapt and could present a risk 
to their tenants who may understandably want to stay in their own home; and hoped that modern 
design standards would support residents to live in new properties independently.     
 

2.72 The Committee heard practical examples of joint working in action. The Housing Options team 
reported that they had a good working relationship with social services, the Islington Learning 
Disabilities Partnership, Age UK and the Police; and high-risk cases were regularly discussed 
with these agencies. On the other hand, the Housing Disability Panel suggested that, from a 
service user perspective, joint working was not always effective. This was demonstrated by 
having to repeat information to different services.    
 

2.73 The Committee found that there is a great deal of joint working between the council’s Housing 
Services and other services, however thought that some relationships could be made more 
effective. Staff at the Hornsey Road Reception Centre commented that communication between 
services could be improved. An example was given of a homeless 18 year old in the centre who 
had not lived independently before; staff thought that this young person needed some additional 

Page 38



22 

 

guidance and support but found it difficult to action change in other services. It also became 
apparent during the visit that staff were not aware that another resident’s application for re-
housing had been accepted by the council.   
 

2.74 Lack of communication between services can be detrimental to vulnerable people’s wellbeing. 
Reception centre staff highlighted that one particular issue was hospitals directly discharging 
patients to reception centres. This may happen if the patient is homeless, or is unable to return to 
their own property. There had been instances where reception centre staff were not advised of 
what support or care these vulnerable people needed; these people generally arrived at the 
Reception Centre by ambulance without clothing or food and sometimes were not able to go out 
and get the supplies they needed. The situation was exacerbated if these residents arrived on 
Friday afternoon, as it was difficult to liaise with the hospital or social services because staff had 
left for the weekend. As a result the Reception Centre had started demanding that a care plan 
was provided in advance of these residents being accepted; however the Committee thought that 
this area warranted a higher-level review of how housing, social services, and the NHS liaise in 
relation to hospital discharge arrangements.  
 

2.75 It is recommended that liaison between housing, social services and NHS services be 
reviewed in regards to hospital discharge arrangements; to ensure that reception centres 
and other relevant housing services are aware of care needs and that disabled and 
vulnerable people are fully supported.    
 

2.76 It was also considered that further joint working was needed with the council’s housing 
contractors to ensure that they adequately meet the needs of vulnerable people. The Housing 
Disability Panel commented that the service received from contractors was inconsistent, that they 
seemingly were not aware of their duty to make reasonable adjustments under the Equality Act 
2010, and that they were often not aware of disabled and vulnerable people’s needs. The 
Committee suggests that these issues could be partially addressed through more comprehensive 
information sharing agreements, however acknowledges that there may also be performance 
issues which need addressing. Islington Council contractors should be held to the same 
standards as council staff, and their services to vulnerable people and compliance with disability 
legislation should be monitored through contract management processes, with enforcement 
action taken if necessary.   

 
2.77 It is recommended that housing services should set clear expectations for contractors 

about working with disabled and vulnerable residents; this should include standards for 
staff training and accessibility. Compliance should be enforceable and regularly 
monitored to ensure that contractors are compliant with relevant disability legislation and 
that they are responsive to the needs of vulnerable and disabled people. Housing 
contractors should also be required to report any welfare concerns they have to the 
Housing service.  
 
Other findings: the experiences of carers  
 

2.78 The Committee considered the views and experiences of carers, who have a unique insight into 
the housing issues affecting vulnerable people and could also be vulnerable themselves. 
Evidence was received from Age UK Islington, which is commissioned by the council to manage 
the Islington Carers Hub, providing a one stop shop for advice and support, as well as 
workshops, training opportunities and facilitated support groups. Age UK was also able to 
provide carers assessments, help with completing forms, benefits advice, and a flexible breaks 
fund.  
 

2.79 There are 16,311 carers in Islington which represents around 8% of the borough’s population. 
However, only around 2,000 carers are registered with the Carers Hub; Age UK was concerned 

Page 39



23 

 

that there was a number of carers, and by extension vulnerable people, who were not receiving 
support or advice on care issues. To increase their client base Age UK advertised the Carers 
Hub in GP surgeries, Job Centres, and other community buildings; as a result the organisation 
was registering 37 new carers a month. The organisation was also proactive in identifying 
vulnerable people’s needs, and regularly made calls to vulnerable people and their carers to 
establish if they needed any additional support.  
  

2.80 Age UK Islington had carried out a survey of carers to gauge their opinions on housing services 
for vulnerable people. It was found that 13% of the organisation’s casework was housing related. 
This could relate to council housing, housing association properties, or private housing. Age UK 
surveyed 36 carers and identified four main housing-related themes; rehousing, repairs, money 
(i.e. financial support with housing and utilities costs), and aids and adaptations. Feedback on 
the council’s services was generally mixed. It was reported that some carers were unaware of 
the services the council offered to vulnerable people. It was also highlighted that carers 
themselves faced specific housing issues, with Age UK regularly providing advice on succession 
rights, which could be problematic in the event of a vulnerable person’s death. The Committee 
welcomed the work of Age UK Islington in supporting carers, noting that carers had a very 
important role in supporting the wellbeing of vulnerable people.  
 

2.81 Other findings: service reviews 
 

2.82 The Housing Operations service is to carry out a fundamental review of the council’s housing 
offer over the next year. This is intended to review how Housing works with other services and 
how the service could be more personalised and user-led, with a focus on the integration of 
services and early-intervention, to support the independence and resilience of vulnerable people. 
The Committee consider that vulnerable and disabled people must be engaged in this review; 
both through representative organisations such as Disability Action in Islington and on an 
individual basis. It is important to ensure that people with a wide range of vulnerabilities are 
consulted. 
 

2.83 Service user groups should be invited to participate in the forthcoming review of the 
Council’s housing management services, and other service reviews as appropriate. 
 

 
3. Conclusions  

 
3.1 The Committee welcomes the council provides a wide range of specialist housing options and 

additional housing services to disabled and vulnerable people. However, it is considered that 
these services could be made more effective. One particular area for improvement is 
communication and engagement, which appears to be at the heart of many of the issues raised 
by both residents and officers.  
 

3.2 Developing communication between housing, other services, and contractors will help to ensure 
that staff have access to comprehensive, accurate and practical information on resident needs, 
which will support them in delivering housing services more effectively.  Further communication 
and engagement with disabled and vulnerable people will help to ensure that services are 
meeting their needs, that residents are aware of the services available and how to access them, 
and what can be expected from those services. 
 

3.3 The Committee has made 14 recommendations in response to the evidence received. It is hoped 
that the Committee’s recommendations will assist the council in providing more effective and 
more personalised housing services, which will support the overall wellbeing of vulnerable people 
and help to maintain or develop their independence and resilience.  
 

Page 40



24 

 

3.4 In carrying out the review, the Committee met with officers, service users, and other housing 
providers to gain a balanced view. The Committee would like to thank the witnesses that gave 
evidence in relation to the scrutiny. The Executive is asked to endorse the Committee’s 
recommendations. 

 

Page 41



25 

 

APPENDIX A  
 
 

SCRUTINY INITIATION DOCUMENT (SID)  
 

Review:  Housing Services for Vulnerable People 
 
 

Scrutiny Review Committee:  Housing Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

Director leading the review:  Maxine Holdsworth,  
                                                 Service Director, Housing Needs and Strategy 

 
 
Lead officer: Paul Byer, Service Development Manager 
 
 

Overall aim:  To review the effectiveness of the housing services the council provides to   
                       vulnerable people   
 

Objectives of the review:  

 To identify and assess the housing options and additional housing services available to 
vulnerable people 

 To confirm that the council’s housing services are accessible to vulnerable people 

 To assess how vulnerable people and their particular needs are identified by housing 
services 

 To evaluate how the council’s housing services communicate and engage with 
vulnerable people  

 To benchmark the council’s housing services for vulnerable people against those of 
other housing providers and to identify best practice  

 To review the extent of joint working with adult social care and others. 
 

How is the review to be carried out: 
 
Scope of the review   
 
The review will focus on: 
 

1. Vulnerabilities 

 An overview of the social care offer to borough residents and how this relates to 
housing services 

 Definitions of vulnerability, identification mechanisms, the types of additional 
support required and how housing services can be best tailored towards 
vulnerable people 

 How the needs of vulnerable people can be prioritised within the housing service 
 
 
 

Page 42



26 

 

2. Housing services  

 The housing options for vulnerable people and how housing is allocated  

 The additional services available to vulnerable council tenants, Partners tenants, 
leaseholders, and others, including those with mental health issues; including 
how services are developed 

 The effectiveness and accessibility of additional services such as the assistive 
decorative scheme, discretionary repairs, the handyperson scheme, the 
adaptation service and floating support service 

 How housing services communicate and engage with vulnerable people, 
including customer service and complaints procedures   

 Advocacy services available for vulnerable people at risk of losing their home 
 

3.  Partnership work 

 Cross-service work between Housing and Adult Social Services and others 

 Partnership work with other housing providers: i.e. Circle Housing providing 
sheltered housing   

 Partnership work with TMOs and the voluntary sector  
 

4. The performance, sustainability and value for money of services 

 Comparing and benchmarking our services to those of other boroughs and 
housing providers 

 How the performance of services is monitored 

 The views and experiences of service users  

 The resources available for vulnerable housing and additional services  

 Risks and opportunities, such as legislative change and new technologies  

 Identifying possible service improvements  
 

Types of evidence   
 

1. Documentary evidence including:  

 Contextual report/presentation 

 Case studies  

 Demographic information on the vulnerable people accessing the council’s 
housing services 

 Relevant service specifications, policies, performance indicators and other 
documentation 

 
2. Witness evidence including: 

 Officers from across the council’s housing services 

 Service providers 

 Service users and representatives of vulnerable tenants, such as the Housing 
Disability Panel and the Older Person’s Champion 

 Islington Carer’s Hub 

 Relevant voluntary and community sector organisations 

 Another local authority, either a neighbouring borough or a best practice 
authority  

 A good practice housing association 
 

3. Scrutiny visit as required 
 

Page 43



27 

 

Additional information: 
 
The Council’s Corporate Plan states ‘We want to ensure that everyone in Islington has a 
place to live that is affordable, decent and secure’. It states that a priority of the Council is 
‘making Islington a place where our residents have a good quality of life’ and this will be 
achieved by supporting vulnerable residents and carers and helping residents to live healthy 
independent lives. The Corporate Plan is underpinned by the council’s principles of early 
intervention and prevention, people-centred services, co-production, strong partnerships, 
making every contact count, and being employment focussed.  
 
The Committee has decided to undertake this review in the context of the significant financial 
challenges facing the Council; to ensure that the housing services provided to vulnerable 
tenants are effective and accessible at a time when budgets are under increasing pressure.  
 
In carrying out the review the committee will consider equalities implications and resident 
impacts identified by witnesses. The Executive is required to have due regard to these, and 
any other relevant implications, when responding to the review recommendations.  

 
 
 

Programme 
 

Key output: To be submitted to Committee on: 

1. Scrutiny Initiation Document 11 July 2016 & 6 September 2016 

2. Draft Recommendations  28 March 2017 

3. Final Report 20 June 2017 

 
 

Page 44



28 

 

APPENDIX B 
 

Housing Scrutiny Committee – Work Plan  
 
 

11 July 2017 
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose Other key information 

Maxine Holdsworth, 
Service Director, 
Housing Needs and 
Strategy  
 
 

To introduce the scrutiny 
initiation document and to 
advise on the context of the 
review.   

The SID was referred to the Housing 
Disability Panel and subsequently 
agreed following amendment.  

 
 

6 September 2016  
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose Other key information 

Paul Byer, Service 
Development Manager 
 
 

To provide an introduction to 
the support services offered by 
the Housing service to 
vulnerable residents, and other 
contextual information.  
  

To meet SID objectives:  
 

 To identify and assess the 
housing options and additional 
housing services available to 
vulnerable people 

 

Claudia Thompson,  
Assistant Director,  
Adults Integrated 
Community Services 
 

Adult Social Services – To 
provide an overview of the 
social care context in Islington 
and to describe the additional 
needs and challenges faced by 
vulnerable residents.   

To be supported by written information 
compiled by Tessa Cole, Improvement 
and Efficiency Programme Manager, 
and Michele Chew, Head of Quality and 
Performance.  
 
To meet SID objectives: 
 

 To review the extent of joint 
working with adult social care 
and others. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



29 

 

17 October 2016  
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose  Other key information 

Cora Nicholls, Housing 
Options Manager, and 
Vicky Manser, 
Principal Re-Housing 
Manager 

Housing Needs and Strategy – 
on the work undertaken by the 
service on supporting 
vulnerable people. 

To meet SID objectives:  
 

 To identify and assess the 
housing options and additional 
housing services available to 
vulnerable people 

 To assess how vulnerable 
people and their particular needs 
are identified by housing 
services 

 To evaluate how the council’s 
housing services communicate 
and engage with vulnerable 
people  

 To review the extent of joint 
working with adult social care 
and others 

 
 
 
 

1 December 2016  
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose Other key information 

Jon Farrant, Head of 
Tenancy and Estate 
Services 
 

Housing Operations – on the 
work undertaken by the service 
on supporting vulnerable 
people, including referrals to 
advocacy organisations and 
Social Services.  
 

To meet SID objectives:  
 

 To identify and assess the 
housing options and additional 
housing services available to 
vulnerable people 

 To assess how vulnerable 
people and their particular 
needs are identified by housing 
services 

 To evaluate how the council’s 
housing services communicate 
and engage with vulnerable 
people 

 To review the extent of joint 
working with adult social care 
and others 

 

Glenn McCorkindale, 
Property Services 
Programme Manager 
 

Property Services – on the 
work undertaken by the service 
on supporting vulnerable 
people. 

Page 46



30 

 

Representative of Peter 
Bedford Housing 
Association 

Peter Bedford Housing 
Association – to review the 
services for vulnerable people 
provided by a good practice 
Housing Association. 

To meet SID objectives:  
 

 To benchmark the council’s 
housing services for vulnerable 
people against those of other 
housing providers and to identify 
best practice  

 
 
 
 

10 January 2017 
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose Other key information 

Housing Disability 
Panel representatives 
 

Housing Disability Panel – to 
provide information from a 
service user perspective.  
 

To meet SID objectives:  
 

 To confirm that the council’s 
housing services are accessible 
to vulnerable people 

 To evaluate how the council’s 
housing services communicate 
and engage with vulnerable 
people  

 

Age UK – Carer’s 
Representatives 
 
 

Age UK – To provide 
information from a carer’s 
perspective. 

Service users Open invitation for service 
users to attend and provide 
evidence.  
 

 
 
 

2 February 2017 
 

Who / What 
 

Organisation / Purpose Other key information 

Representative of 
another local authority  
 

To benchmark the council’s 
housing services for vulnerable 
people to that of another local 
authority.  

To meet SID objectives:  
 

 To benchmark the council’s 
housing services for vulnerable 
people against those of other 
housing providers and to identify 
best practice 

Partners representative  Partners for Improvement in 
Islington – on the additional 
services offered to vulnerable 
Partners tenants. 
 

 
Scrutiny visit: 
Visit to Reception Centre accommodation at 305 Hornsey Road – 28 February 2017 
 
 
Key dates: 
28 March 2017: Draft Recommendations  
20 June 2017: Final Report 

 
 

 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



HOUSING SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

SCRUTINY TOPICS AND WORK PROGRAMME 2017/18 
 
 

The Committee is asked to identify its scrutiny topics for 2017/18 and review its work programme.   
 
The Council’s Constitution allows the Committee undertake one review of its own choosing, and carry 
out a further review subject to the agreement of the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Committee.  
 
The Chair has suggested that the Committee may wish to carry out two smaller scrutiny reviews this 
year. These scrutiny reviews must be completed within the municipal year.  
 
The Chair has suggested that the following topics would be suitable for review:  
 

 The Housing Service’s Communications   

 The Council’s Work with Housing Associations  

 The Council’s New Build Programme 
 
 The Committee may also request one-off reports on other housing-related matters.   
 
 

 
 

DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 
 

 
20 JUNE 2017 

 
1. Membership, Terms of Reference and Dates of Meetings 
2. RSL Scrutiny (Housing Association TBC) 
3. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q4 2016/17)  
4. Housing Services for Vulnerable People: Final Report   
5. Scrutiny Topics and Work Plan 2017/18 

 
 
17 JULY 2017 
 

1. RSL Scrutiny (Housing Association TBC) 
2. Scrutiny Review A: SID and Introductory Presentation  

 
 
4 SEPTEMBER 2017 
 

1. Scrutiny Review A: Witness Evidence 
2. Estate Services Management: 12 Month Report Back to Committee 
3. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q1 2017/18) 

 
 
3 OCTOBER 2017  
 

1. Scrutiny Review A: Witness Evidence 
2. Capital Programme Scrutiny 2015/16 – 12 Month Report Back  
 
 
 
 

Page 49

Agenda Item 5



 
 

16 NOVEMBER 2017  
 

1. Scrutiny Review A: Draft Recommendations 
2. Scrutiny Review B: SID and Introductory Presentation  
3. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q2 2017/18) 

 
 

11 DECEMBER 2017  
 

1. Scrutiny Review A: Final Report 
2. Scrutiny Review B: Witness Evidence  
3. Responsive Repairs Scrutiny 2015/16 – 12 Month Report Back 

 
 

30 JANUARY 2018 
 

1. RSL Scrutiny (Housing Association TBC) 
2. Scrutiny Review B: Witness Evidence and Draft Recommendations 

 
 
8 MARCH 2018  
 

1. Scrutiny Review B: Final Report  
2. Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q3 2017/18) & Annual Executive Member 

Presentation 
 

Page 50


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	1 Membership, Terms of Reference and Dates of Meetings
	Terms of Reference Appendix

	3 Quarterly Review of Housing Performance (Q4 2016/17)
	4 Housing Services for Vulnerable People: Final Report
	5 Scrutiny Topics and Work Programme 2017/18

